

1 **Vancouver, BC**

2 **April 18, 2012**

3 **(PROCEEDINGS RECONVENED AT 10:40 A.M.)**

4 THE REGISTRAR: This hearing is now resumed.

5 MR. CHANTLER: Mr. Commissioner, Neil Chantler, counsel for  
6 the families. The next witness I'd like to call  
7 is Chris Joseph. He's not one of the six names I  
8 gave you earlier this week. We had some  
9 discussion with commission counsel and they were  
10 agreeable to calling him at this late notice and  
11 I thank them for their indulgence.

12 THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

13 **CHRIS JOSEPH:** Affirmed

14 THE REGISTRAR: Would you state your name, please.

15 THE WITNESS: My name is Christopher Philip Joseph.

16 MR. CHANTLER: Mr. Commissioner, with your leave I'll be  
17 leading much of this witness's evidence.

18 THE COMMISSIONER: Yes.

19 **EXAMINATION IN CHIEF BY MR. CHANTLER:**

20 Q You are the brother of Olivia Williams?

21 A Yes.

22 Q You now know sitting here today that -- this is  
23 from the records disclosed to you through this  
24 inquiry -- that Olivia was last seen on the  
25 Downtown Eastside on December 6, 1996; correct?

1 A Yes.

2 Q Can you confirm for us that Olivia is one of the  
3 women on the missing persons poster to your left?  
4 Can you just point to that?

5 A She's right here, Olivia William; that's my  
6 youngest sister.

7 Q For the record her name is correctly --

8 A Williams, with an S at the end. Somehow they  
9 made a mistake on that.

10 Q I see. Thank you for correcting that. I'm going  
11 to hand a photo up as well. Mr. Joseph, you've  
12 seen this photo before?

13 A Yes, I did.

14 Q You can confirm this is a photo of Olivia?

15 A Yes, this is a photo of my sister Olivia.

16 MR. CHANTLER: Can you hold it up so the gallery can see. If  
17 that could be marked as the next exhibit.

18 THE COMMISSIONER: Yes.

19 THE REGISTRAR: Exhibit 144.

20 **(EXHIBIT 144: Photograph of Olivia Williams)**

21 MR. CHANTLER:

22 Q Mr. Joseph, are you aware of any charges being  
23 laid in connection with Olivia's disappearance?

24 A No, I don't.

25 Q And you're not aware of Olivia being connected in

1           any way to the Pickton farm; correct?

2           A    Yes.

3           Q    Mr. Joseph, I'm going to lead you through some of  
4           your background and then we're going to focus on  
5           Olivia's life and her disappearance.

6                    You were born July 16, 1971?

7           A    Yes.

8           Q    That's in Burns Lake?

9           A    Yes.

10          Q    You grew up on Babine Lake Nation Reserve, Burns  
11          Lake?

12          A    Yes.

13          Q    At a young age you were made a ward of the courts  
14          and spent much of your childhood in group homes;  
15          is that correct?

16          A    Yes.

17          Q    You attended a Catholic high school in Burns  
18          Lake?

19          A    Yes.

20          Q    You finished grade 10?

21          A    Yeah.

22          Q    Can you tell us a bit about your mother and your  
23          relationship with her?

24          A    My mother died when I was four; she was buried in  
25          Chilliwack. On the rez back in the day there was

1 a lot of drinking going on and I was removed from  
2 the house because there was a lot of drinking  
3 going on and I went from group home to group home  
4 all my life until I was at least 15, 16.

5 Q You lived for a few years in Smithers, BC?

6 A Eight years in Smithers, yes.

7 Q And your life took a turn for the better when you  
8 turned 20; you attended a treatment centre in  
9 Vernon?

10 A Yes.

11 Q What was that for?

12 A That was for alcohol and drugs.

13 Q Today you live in Surrey?

14 A Yes.

15 Q And you're on disability type 2?

16 A Yes.

17 Q You've been sober for nine months?

18 A Yes.

19 Q That's going well?

20 A Yeah.

21 Q Now, you had two younger sisters, Olivia and  
22 Winnie?

23 A Yes.

24 Q Both have passed away?

25 A Both have passed away.

1 Q Olivia was born January 19 --

2 A Yeah.

3 Q -- 1975; she was four years younger than you?

4 A Yes.

5 Q She was put in a foster care home at a young age  
6 as well?

7 A Yes.

8 Q Can you tell us about that?

9 A When my mom died the ministry were going to put  
10 us in the nuns' home, which my late mom's dad  
11 took me back and raised me, and the other  
12 Williams family took Olivia and took her back to  
13 the isolated reserve which was west-east (sic) of  
14 Smithers.

15 Q What was the name of that place?

16 A It was still called Lake Babine Nation but the  
17 reserves were spread out.

18 Q Can you tell us about your relationship with  
19 Olivia? Were you able to stay in touch even  
20 though you were separated?

21 A Yes. I always contacted Olivia by phone or  
22 either when my parents, my grandfather took me  
23 out to do fishing, so I saw her on that isolated  
24 reserve many times.

25 Q What was Olivia like as a young girl?

1           A    She was pretty good to people, helped out.  She  
2                    was always there if anybody needed help.  Like  
3                    growing up my parents were drinking too much and  
4                    I was the only one taking care of both of them  
5                    until I was removed from the house myself.

6           Q    Why was that?

7           A    Because there was too much drinking going on in  
8                    the house.

9           Q    Who removed you?

10          A    The ward -- the ward of the courts removed me to  
11                   a group home and from there on until I turned  
12                   about 15, 16 and I went on my own after that.

13          Q    When did you last see Olivia?

14          A    I think it was back in 1995 in Burns Lake.  She  
15                   was staying at this hotel called the Rainbow  
16                   Hotel and she was rooming in 120.  She was  
17                   pregnant at the time, too.

18          Q    Can you tell us about Olivia at that time, tell  
19                   us about her life at that time.

20          A    She was always running away from Smithers.  She  
21                   made it to Burns Lake and she told me that she  
22                   was staying at this hotel in Burns Lake in room  
23                   120.  She had another baby and she was pregnant  
24                   with the second one.  She had her hair all fixed  
25                   up -- it wasn't like this now but it was sort of

1 spiral curl.

2 Q What happened after that visit in 1995?

3 A After 1995 I never heard from her or seen her.  
4 She never phoned us -- she never phoned me  
5 basically because I started getting worried and  
6 telling my dad that you know what's happening  
7 with my sister which is your daughter. I never  
8 heard from her since she left Burns Lake back in  
9 1995.

10 Q What happened to Olivia after that?

11 A She went missing here on the Downtown Eastside,  
12 December 6 of 1996.

13 Q Do you know how she ended up living in the  
14 Downtown Eastside?

15 A From what I hear, her aunt kept sending her back  
16 down this way, either by bus or by plane, and she  
17 came back to Vancouver here. She was crying that  
18 one time because the ministry took that one baby  
19 away from her in Burns Lake, and I'm not sure if  
20 this baby was brought back to Smithers or still  
21 residing in Burns Lake in a foster home.

22 Q Do you know if Olivia had any problems with  
23 alcohol or drugs?

24 A I think she -- both of my sisters were related to  
25 drugs and alcohol because of the sexual abuse

1           that went on in the house when my parents were  
2           drinking a lot.

3           Q    Do you have any knowledge of Olivia working in  
4           the sex trade?

5           A    I do think so, yeah.

6           Q    You lost touch with Olivia and did not hear from  
7           her while she was living in Vancouver; correct?

8           A    Yes.

9           Q    And you did not have any direct involvement with  
10          the police in relation to her disappearance;  
11          correct?

12          A    Yes.

13          Q    Mr. Joseph, you've been at this commission for  
14          numerous days, you've been in attendance  
15          observing and you've expressed a desire to  
16          participate and share what you know with the  
17          commission. What are you hoping to get out of  
18          this commission of inquiry, can you tell the  
19          commissioner? Take your time.

20 THE COMMISSIONER: Shall we have a break?

21 MR. CHANTLER:

22           Q    Would you like a break, Mr. Joseph?

23           A    Yes.

24 THE REGISTRAR: We'll adjourn for five minutes.

25                   (PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 10:48 P.M.)



1 (PROCEEDINGS RESUMED AT 10:54 A.M.)

2 THE REGISTRAR: This hearing is now resumed.

3 MR. CHANTLER:

4 Q Mr. Joseph, I'll just repeat my question for you.  
5 You've been here many days and I know you have  
6 some things you'd like to tell the commissioner.  
7 Firstly, what would you like to get out of this  
8 process, participating in this commission of  
9 inquiry?

10 A Well, first of all, I would like to say that it's  
11 very hard for me to look at this picture and -- I  
12 didn't know that I was going to have my sister  
13 come down here and go missing and vanish without  
14 even letting me know or my dad know where she is,  
15 and I think that's the reason why I drank for  
16 almost a lot of years because to numb the pain of  
17 me being sexually abused in the home. I'm not  
18 sure if both of my other sisters went through  
19 that but I'm pretty sure there was sexual abuse  
20 went on in the home because my family went to  
21 residential school in the past and -- I've been  
22 through a lot, when I was a ten-year-old boy,  
23 I've been traumatized in alcohol and drugs. Most  
24 of the time I was the only one looking after them  
25 when my parents were out drinking. I was the

1           only one that took care of her and my other  
2           sister that passed away.

3           Q    Do you hope that -- you hope to get something out  
4           of this participation in this process?

5           A    Yes.

6           Q    Do you have anything to tell the commissioner as  
7           to what you hope this commission is able to  
8           achieve?

9           A    Commissioner Wally Oppal, I thank you for letting  
10          me be allowed to speak on behalf of my sister and  
11          I just wanted to say that if the cops here in  
12          Vancouver looked into the Pickton situation  
13          earlier as we see all these girls here on your  
14          board they would have been here today if the cops  
15          really listened to the people.

16 THE COMMISSIONER:   Okay.  Thank you for coming here.  I know  
17               it's difficult for you to talk about this and I  
18               just want you to know that it's important that we  
19               hear from you and I want to thank you for coming  
20               here and telling us about your family and about  
21               yourself and most of all about Olivia.

22                        Anything further?

23 MR. CHANTLER:   Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you,  
24                        Mr. Joseph.

25 THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

1 THE COMMISSIONER: Any questions? Thank you, Mr. Joseph,  
2 thank you very much.

3 **(WITNESS ASIDE)**

4 MR. VERTLIEB: The next witness is Roxana Smith and Roxana,  
5 for the court reporter and Mr. Commissioner, is  
6 spelled R-O-X-A-N-A, one N, and Smith the usual  
7 way.

8 **ROXANA SMITH: Affirmed**

9 THE REGISTRAR: Would you state your name, please.

10 THE WITNESS: Roxana Smith.

11 MR. VERTLIEB: Thank you, Mr. Giles. Ms. Smith, after my  
12 questions there will only be three groups that  
13 wish to question you and, Mr. Commissioner, it's  
14 Ms. Narbonne for 30 minutes, Criminal Justice  
15 Branch for 40 minutes and Mr. Chantler for 20  
16 minutes. That is all we've received in  
17 accordance with your practice directive so that  
18 should be the extent of it.

19 MR. MAJAWA: Andrew Majawa for the Government of Canada. My  
20 colleague Mr. Makosz informed commission counsel  
21 we would be about 15 minutes.

22 THE COMMISSIONER: All right. Mr. Gratl?

23 MR. GRATL: I expect to be brief, less than 15 minutes.

24 MR. VERTLIEB: There is a directive requiring people to give  
25 us that information and I just remind everyone

1           that it's the commissioner's directive.

2 **EXAMINATION IN CHIEF BY MR. VERTLIEB:**

3           Q    Ms. Smith, let's briefly discuss your background.

4           We know you ultimately are here because you were  
5           a victim services worker in the late '90s. Prior  
6           to that, tell us about your first career.

7           A    I worked in nursing at Woodlands for 16 years.

8           Q    So you were a nurse at Woodlands for 16 years.

9           Tell us about the kind of nursing you did at  
10          Woodlands.

11          A    I worked with individuals who were physically and  
12          mentally challenged.

13          Q    So that would be people with physical  
14          disabilities that could be very, very serious?

15          A    That's right.

16          Q    And mental disability as well?

17          A    Yes.

18          Q    Disabling to the point where people would need to  
19          be in care?

20          A    That's right.

21          Q    You have a nursing diploma from BCIT?

22          A    Yes.

23          Q    Tell us about how you first became involved as a  
24          victim services worker.

25          A    I began in 1989 as a volunteer with the Crown

1           counsel office in New Westminster.

2           Q    And you were doing that in a volunteer capacity  
3           how many days a week?

4           A    I did it Monday to Friday for four hours a day.

5           Q    You ultimately became a certified victim services  
6           worker and in what year please was that?

7           A    In 2006.

8           Q    And where did you get that certification?

9           A    At Douglas College.

10          Q    Tell us what you're doing now.

11          A    I currently work with the Crime Victim Witness  
12          Assistance Program.

13          Q    That's dealing with people who have been the  
14          victims of criminal activity?

15          A    That's right.

16          Q    We want to discuss with you events that took  
17          place in 1998 with a Ms. Anderson. At that time  
18          in January of 1998 what were you doing?

19          A    I was working in the Port Coquitlam courthouse as  
20          a victim service worker. I was at that time  
21          assistant manager of the program.

22          Q    Were you working for a police agency or a Crown  
23          agency?

24          A    I was working for a Crown agency.

25          Q    We've heard that there are both victim services

1 workers who work for police and also work for the  
2 Crown?

3 A That's right.

4 Q In the simplest way for the commissioner's  
5 benefit just so he understands the difference,  
6 tell us in the briefest way what is the  
7 difference between those two jobs?

8 A The Crown Victim Service focus was on court  
9 orientation, so we only worked in the courthouse  
10 with individuals that were going to be testifying  
11 in court. Police-based Victim Service also did  
12 court orientation but they also worked more in  
13 the community and with the police and on calls  
14 with the police.

15 Q They went on calls with the police to see  
16 potential witnesses in cases?

17 A That's right.

18 Q Whereas you would not do that in your work for  
19 the Crown?

20 A No.

21 Q So you were stationed in the courthouse?

22 A Yes.

23 Q Your main job was to help someone understand what  
24 a courtroom would look like and where they would  
25 sit and what the proceedings would be like?

1 A That's right.

2 Q We've heard that there was a meeting at the  
3 courthouse in Port Coquitlam with Crown counsel  
4 Randi Connor. Do you know Randi Connor? Do you  
5 remember working with her?

6 A Yes.

7 Q We've heard the date of the meeting with Ms.  
8 Anderson was either the 23rd of January 1998 or  
9 the 26th of January of 1998. Do you remember  
10 being at a meeting with Ms. Connor, the Crown  
11 counsel, and Ms. Anderson?

12 A I recall being at a meeting with Ms. Anderson and  
13 with Randi Connor but I do not recall the date.

14 Q So you can't assist us anymore on the date. Can  
15 you help us know it was in the year 1998 or do  
16 you not have memory of the actual year and month?

17 A I can assist with the year 1998, yes, that it was  
18 during that year.

19 Q Thank you. That's as much as you can help us  
20 with?

21 A Yes.

22 Q I wanted to ask you about your recall of that  
23 meeting. Just tell the commissioner what you  
24 remember of that meeting.

25 A My memory of that meeting is just being asked by

1 a Crown to attend the meeting and being in the  
2 meeting room with Crown and Ms. Anderson. That's  
3 it.

4 Q Do you know how long the meeting took?

5 A I cannot recall.

6 Q Do you know what time it started?

7 A I cannot recall that.

8 Q Do you have any memory of how Ms. Anderson  
9 appeared?

10 A I cannot recall.

11 Q Do you have any memory of how she came across to  
12 you in a health context?

13 A I cannot.

14 Q I should tell you, Ms. Smith, one of the reasons  
15 we've asked to come is that Mr. Ward who is one  
16 of the lawyers here has asked that you come, so I  
17 just wanted you to understand that's part of the  
18 background for this, and I should say that at the  
19 beginning and we thought it was a fair request so  
20 we've asked you to come.

21 Is there anything else you can tell us about  
22 Ms. Anderson that you recall from that meeting  
23 with her at the Crown counsel office?

24 A I cannot.

25 Q In 1998 did you know the name Pickton?



1 A I did not.

2 Q Obviously today you know it?

3 A Yes.

4 Q Had you prior to that date dealt with people who  
5 were heroin users?

6 A Not to my knowledge, no.

7 Q So you would not be someone who believed you had  
8 personal knowledge of what heroin use might  
9 indicate to your observation, it's not something  
10 you knew about?

11 A Definitely not.

12 Q Now, in terms of the support that you could offer  
13 to victims of crime, you've talked about  
14 supporting them at the courthouse to let them  
15 understand what the court proceedings would look  
16 like. Were you also able or were other court  
17 workers able to give potential witnesses  
18 counselling support?

19 A We would make referrals to resources in the  
20 community that would support witnesses that were  
21 being called to court by Crown.

22 Q If someone was coming to court and had fears for  
23 their own personal security would that be an  
24 issue you could assist with?

25 A I would bring it to the attention of Crown so

1           they could deal with those issues.

2           Q    If a potential witness has had any special needs  
3           that would be apparent, is that something that  
4           you as a court worker could assist with?

5           A    Again, we would make referrals to the appropriate  
6           agencies that would assist.

7           Q    Do you remember in the Anderson case whether you  
8           were asked by anyone, whether it was Ms. Anderson  
9           or the Crown, to provide any special services to  
10          assist her?

11          A    I cannot recall.

12          Q    One last thing I wanted to ask you, and I don't  
13          mean to be prying. We recognize this event was  
14          15 years ago. Was there any personal issue in  
15          your life that could have affected your memory of  
16          the events back in 1998?

17          A    Yes. My husband was diagnosed with cancer and  
18          passed away shortly after, a few months after.

19          Q    Before I sit down I just wanted to ask you if  
20          there's anything else you recall about the  
21          dealings with Ms. Anderson that you would like to  
22          tell the commissioner, other than what we've  
23          discussed here these last moments?

24          A    No.

25 MR. VERTLIEB: Thank you very much for coming. We appreciate

1           your coming and being so co-operative with our  
2           request that came on relatively short notice.  
3           Mr. Commissioner, those are my questions.

4 THE COMMISSIONER: Cross-examination.

5 **CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRATL:**

6           Q    My name is Jason Gratl. I'm counsel for Downtown  
7           Eastside interests and perspectives, especially  
8           attempting to represent the interests of sex  
9           workers and drug users. In January of 1998, do  
10          you recall making a note in a police services log  
11          that the victim, Ms. Anderson, wanted a court  
12          escort?

13          A    I cannot.

14          Q    Do you recall anything about that?

15          A    No.

16          Q    Do you remember sitting in on an interview?

17          A    I do.

18          Q    Do you recall how long the interview was?

19          A    I do not.

20          Q    Did anything stand out in your mind about that  
21          interview?

22          A    No.

23          Q    You remember Ms. Anderson struck you as looking  
24          ordinary, a regular person? Do you remember  
25          that?

1 A Unfortunately I can't remember that.

2 Q You were interviewed by an individual by the name  
3 of Don Celle, C-E-L-L-E; do you remember that?

4 A That's right.

5 Q That interview took just place a couple months  
6 ago in February, February 1, 2012?

7 A That's right.

8 Q During that interview do you recall telling Mr.  
9 Celle that on meeting Ms. Anderson you hadn't met  
10 anyone who had worked on the streets before and  
11 "she looked like a regular person to me" and that  
12 stuck in your mind?

13 A That stuck in my mind when I made that comment  
14 but since I gave that interview I realized that I  
15 was mistaken, that this was not the person that I  
16 had met and that I was making a comment about --  
17 I think that was someone else I had dealt with.

18 Q I see. Another person who was a survival sex  
19 worker?

20 A No. Again, it was just someone over my career  
21 that I had dealt with. It wasn't in reference to  
22 Ms. Anderson. I was mistaken when I made that  
23 statement.

24 Q You were thinking of another file?

25 A Uh-huh.

1 Q I take it that nothing really stuck out about the  
2 interview with Ms. Anderson?

3 A I can only remember being in the room with Crown  
4 and Ms. Anderson. I have no memory of anything  
5 else that transpired.

6 Q Nothing sticks in your mind out of the ordinary  
7 like a recollection that Ms. Anderson was  
8 incoherent?

9 A No.

10 Q That sort of thing would be unusual?

11 A Again, I don't recall.

12 Q Help me remember how long you were a victim  
13 services worker for the Crown?

14 A I started in '89 and I worked until 2002.

15 Q So many years?

16 A Uh-huh.

17 Q Of course you had a lot of experience sitting in  
18 on Crown interviews with victims?

19 A Yes.

20 Q Victims of sexual assault; correct?

21 A Yes.

22 Q Predominantly women?

23 A Yes.

24 Q Often domestic assaults?

25 A Yes.

1 Q Very difficult circumstances for an individual to  
2 testify?

3 A Yes.

4 Q To your recollection it would be ordinary for  
5 those interviews to be quite emotional and  
6 difficult for the complainant and also for the  
7 Crown?

8 A Yes.

9 Q You were there to support the victims and also to  
10 provide an emotional support to take that  
11 emotional burden off the Crown so the Crown could  
12 do their job?

13 A My role was mainly to do the court orientation  
14 with the witness to familiarize them with the  
15 process when they went into a courtroom to  
16 testify.

17 Q I take it that is part of what you did with Ms.  
18 Anderson?

19 A I do not recall. I only recall being in that  
20 interview with Crown and Ms. Anderson. That's  
21 the only recollection I have.

22 Q What I'm suggesting to you, Ms. Smith, is that if  
23 a person, a witness in a Crown interview -- and  
24 you would have sat in on hundreds of Crown  
25 interviews; is that right?

1 A Yes.

2 Q If a witness were incoherent, if they were  
3 babbling in the sense that they were out of their  
4 right mind, they couldn't formulate sentences and  
5 so forth, that would have stuck out in your mind,  
6 that would be unusual?

7 A Are you asking me in general?

8 Q In general, yes.

9 A Perhaps if there were no other events in my life  
10 that may have clouded my memory.

11 Q I just say in general because you were a victim  
12 services worker for a span of what sounds like 13  
13 years or so?

14 A Uh-huh.

15 Q It would be ordinary for victims of serious  
16 crimes, especially gender and sexually related  
17 crimes, domestic crimes, it would be ordinary for  
18 it to be an emotional interview; correct?

19 A Yes.

20 Q But it would be unusual, not ordinary, for the  
21 victim to be incoherent? I mean, there would be  
22 tears but the person would make sense, they'd be  
23 rational; isn't that right?

24 A Yes.

25 Q So if a person were irrational or incoherent

1 especially over a long interview that would have  
2 stuck out in your mind?

3 A Perhaps.

4 Q I sound more like a dentist today than a lawyer.  
5 I'm not being critical, Ms. Smith, I know it's  
6 been a long time. You stated when asked by Mr.  
7 Vertlieb that part of your job was to provide  
8 referrals to resources, community resources?

9 A Yes.

10 Q So those community resources you could either  
11 refer of your own volition if you saw or  
12 perceived somebody who needed some help, or you  
13 could also refer at the request of Crown?

14 A Yes.

15 Q You wouldn't have to wait for a Crown invitation  
16 to do a referral?

17 A That's right.

18 Q The referrals you would have available to you  
19 included services that were targeted at battered  
20 women in domestic assault situations?

21 A That's right.

22 Q Then there would also be referrals for victims of  
23 violence where there was no domestic component?

24 A Yes.

25 Q And there would be specific services targeted at



1 victims of sexual violence, like rape or  
2 molestation or any of the other kinds of sexual  
3 violations that can occur?

4 A Yes.

5 Q Then you would have also had the possibility of  
6 referring victims of crime to emotional  
7 counselling and therapy?

8 A Yes.

9 Q I mean, either in a group context or in an  
10 individual context, that kind of therapy?

11 A No, I would not decide what type of counselling  
12 I'd make a referral to. I'd let the individual  
13 know that counselling was available in the  
14 community and provide a list of counsellors that  
15 they could contact.

16 Q So then there would also be safe houses that you  
17 could refer to, housing of various types?

18 A Yes.

19 Q Battered womens' shelters?

20 A I could make them aware that those were resources  
21 that would be available in the community.

22 Q Certainly you had an office within the Port  
23 Coquitlam courthouse?

24 A Yes.

25 Q Within the office you'd have a number of

1 pamphlets?

2 A Yes.

3 Q Those would be pamphlets from all the different  
4 types of resources you had available to you?

5 A That's right.

6 Q It would be standard for you, it would be part of  
7 your ordinary practice to provide those pamphlets  
8 to individuals who were referred to you by Crown?

9 A Yes.

10 Q You would have your own interview with those  
11 individuals?

12 A Yes.

13 Q And you're saying that you can't remember your  
14 interaction with Ms. Anderson?

15 A I cannot.

16 Q If somebody came to you, arrived at the  
17 courthouse and they were incoherent, they weren't  
18 making any sense, wouldn't it be your practice to  
19 refer them to the hospital or refer them to drug  
20 therapy or refer them to counselling? I mean,  
21 you'd do something for them, wouldn't you? You  
22 wouldn't just let them be there at the courthouse  
23 incoherent?

24 A When you say come to the courthouse you mean just  
25 in the courthouse or specifically there to meet

1 with Crown?

2 Q Specifically to meet with Crown. So somebody  
3 comes to meet with Crown, of course you have an  
4 opportunity to interview them separately?

5 A If someone came to meet with Crown and if they  
6 were incoherent, if they were upset, Crown more  
7 than likely would have contacted me to come and  
8 assist that person to make referrals.

9 Q If they anticipated in advance difficulty -- for  
10 example, if there were a serious case involving  
11 sexual violence and sexual violation, you would  
12 have advance notice that they were coming?

13 A Yes.

14 Q And then you would have an opportunity to meet  
15 with that person separately from Crown and ask  
16 them if they needed anything, if they required  
17 any support?

18 A Yes.

19 Q That's part of the purpose of your office?

20 A Yes.

21 Q You're there to facilitate the criminal justice  
22 process?

23 A That's right.

24 Q By providing support to victims?

25 A That's right.

1 Q All I'm suggesting to you is that if there were a  
2 problem with an incoherent witness you would have  
3 resources that you could refer that person to?

4 A Yes.

5 Q What would those be?

6 A Counselling, criminal injury compensation,  
7 womens' shelters.

8 Q And drug therapy would be included among those,  
9 drug and alcohol counselling?

10 A If that was something that was identified to me,  
11 certainly I would have pamphlets that I could  
12 provide.

13 Q And if that was identified either by you or by  
14 the Crown you would have pamphlets for drug and  
15 alcohol counselling?

16 A Yes.

17 Q Or detox programs?

18 A Yes.

19 Q And that would be a standard part of your  
20 practice as a Crown agency, victim services  
21 worker, to provide drug and alcohol counselling  
22 referrals to people who needed it?

23 A Yes.

24 MR. GRATL: Thank you. Those are my questions.

25 **CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. NARBONNE:**

1 Q Ms. Smith, my name is Suzette Narbonne and I'm  
2 counsel for aboriginal interests.

3 I'll start with just asking you a couple of  
4 things about Ms. Anderson and then I really want  
5 to -- what I want to get out of you is an idea of  
6 what your role was in comparison to the Crown and  
7 how you ever came into the picture on a file.  
8 Firstly, I appreciate that you don't have any  
9 specific recollection of the interview with Ms.  
10 Anderson today. I know this sounds like a stupid  
11 question, but how do you know that you actually  
12 sat in on an interview with Ms. Anderson?

13 A Because I was there in the office with Crown and  
14 with Ms. Anderson and it's my only memory or  
15 recollection that I have.

16 Q Do you remember today which Crown it was?

17 A Yes.

18 Q And have you used anything to refresh your  
19 memory, like have you talked to anyone or  
20 reviewed any notes or anything like that?

21 A No.

22 Q So you're confident it was Ms. Anderson and I  
23 take it you're confident it was Randi Connor who  
24 was the prosecutor?

25 A That's right.

1 Q In your role -- firstly, I take it you would make  
2 notes; is that right?

3 A Take notes --

4 Q Of anything. Did you keep files?

5 A We did keep files.

6 Q Were those files specific to the people who you  
7 spoke to or who you met?

8 A It would be. We would document that we had  
9 contact with the person and what service we would  
10 be providing to that individual.

11 Q So at some point because you met with Ms.  
12 Anderson there would have been notes that you  
13 created in that regard; is that correct?

14 A There would have been a file.

15 Q What happens to that file after you've created  
16 it? Where is it today?

17 A I have no idea what happened with the file today.

18 Q Did the Crown own those files or did victim  
19 services own those files?

20 A Crown owned the files.

21 Q Do you know if those files got joined with the  
22 Crown files?

23 A It was my understanding when I left the program  
24 that that was what was going to happen.

25 Q Let's take any kind of person who you get

1           involved with. What's the first thing that  
2           happens? How do you find out that someone needs  
3           your assistance?

4           A    The referral may come from the individual, the  
5           referral may have come from the police, it may  
6           have come from Crown, it may have come from one  
7           of the community agencies indicating that that  
8           person was a victim of crime and would need some  
9           assistance and we would be proactive in  
10          contacting that person to arrange for them to  
11          come and meet with myself or any of the other  
12          case workers to do a court orientation with them.

13          Q    What is a court orientation?

14          A    A court orientation meant taking that person into  
15          an empty courtroom and explaining the layout of  
16          the courtroom, the role of all the persons that  
17          would be in the courtroom on the day of a hearing  
18          or trial or preliminary hearing.

19          Q    Typically when would court orientation occur with  
20          respect to the trial date? Was it years before,  
21          months before or days before?

22          A    It depends on the individual. In some cases I do  
23          two or three orientations before and in other  
24          situations the individual only needed one.

25          Q    So it depended on what they needed?

1 A It depended on the individual.

2 Q If someone came to your attention not through  
3 Crown counsel, how did you make Crown counsel  
4 aware that you were now involved with this  
5 victim?

6 A Usually I -- once I knew whom the Crown was that  
7 was assigned to that file I usually would  
8 introduce myself and let them know that I was  
9 dealing with that witness and that I would be  
10 doing a court accompaniment with them and I had  
11 done the court orientation with the person.

12 Q And was it also typical that sometimes what would  
13 happen is what happened in this case where you're  
14 simply called in on the day the Crown is  
15 interviewing the person?

16 A Sorry, could you repeat that?

17 Q Was it typical that you might be called in the  
18 one time that the Crown interviews the witness?

19 A Yes.

20 Q And that you would sit in on the Crown interview,  
21 was that typical?

22 A Yes.

23 Q What was your role? Why were you sitting in on  
24 an interview?

25 A Crown would sometimes feel that the witness may



1           need the support of someone else present or -- I  
2           don't know what other reasons Crown would ask for  
3           us to get involved but usually it was to support  
4           the witness.

5           Q    Do you have any idea if you had any other  
6           dealings with Ms. Anderson besides that date?

7           A    I only recall that meeting.

8           Q    And do you know how you came to sit in on that  
9           interview?

10          A    I was approached by Crown.

11          Q    So this isn't one of the cases where you  
12          approached the Crown about Ms. Anderson, it was  
13          the reverse?

14          A    That's right.

15          Q    It wouldn't have been unusual for you to sit in  
16          on an interview a week before a trial?

17          A    It would not be unusual if I was asked.

18          Q    What is supposed to happen if you're doing court  
19          orientation?  Sorry, let me ask it differently.  
20          If you're asked to sit in on an interview does  
21          that mean you're also going to do the orientation  
22          afterwards?

23          A    I would make the witness aware that that was a  
24          service I could provide if they were interested.

25          Q    I take it you don't know if you did that on this

1 occasion or not?

2 A I definitely do not recall.

3 Q Was it your role to go out and try to find the  
4 witness?

5 A No.

6 Q Was it your role to take a look at the Crown file  
7 and decide who needed your help and who didn't?

8 A No.

9 Q You were approached, right, that's the way it was  
10 supposed to work?

11 A Referrals, yes.

12 Q The Crown files I take it were to a certain  
13 extent confidential, were they not?

14 A Yes.

15 Q Did you ever in a case -- I take it you know what  
16 the Anderson case was about, right?

17 A Yes.

18 Q Is that the kind of case where Crown would have  
19 given you their file and said, "Here's my file,  
20 take a look at it"?

21 A No.

22 Q So really your role in a case like this is when  
23 someone asks you to help then you're there to  
24 help and that help occurs generally in the  
25 context of preparing them for the stress of

1           testifying?

2           A    That's correct.

3           Q    And your role isn't to find them and rehabilitate  
4           them?

5           A    That's right.

6           Q    So if the Crown suggests that they expected you  
7           to come and tell them if there were problems  
8           finding this witness, that's not true; right?  
9           It's simply not your job to go looking for the  
10          witness; right?

11          A    It was not my job to go look for witnesses.

12          Q    Was it part of your role that you would go to the  
13          Crown and say, "I can't find your witness"?

14          A    No.

15          Q    Were most of your referrals from the Crown?

16          A    I can't answer that question.

17          Q    Was your agency distinct from the Crown or --  
18          what I'm trying to get at is can you decide that  
19          you want to get involved in a file even if the  
20          Crown doesn't want you involved in a file?

21          A    Yes.

22          Q    That's if you get a referral from the police like  
23          you said?

24          A    Yes.

25          Q    Or the victim phones you?

1 A Or a community agency, a community referral.

2 Q How would a victim know you exist?

3 A Through the police -- when the police did their  
4 investigation they had a card that identified  
5 victims services that were available and they  
6 could give them our card or, again, they would  
7 come in contact with some other agency that  
8 probably would refer them to us or Crown would  
9 refer.

10 Q Did you work with -- you talked about the victim  
11 services that works with the police as being a  
12 distinct agency from yours, right?

13 A Being different?

14 Q Different.

15 A Their role duplicated some of the services that  
16 we provided but they certainly had a mandate  
17 where they had other services that they provided.

18 Q Did you work with them on files?

19 A We coordinated our services at times.

20 Q What does that mean?

21 A It means that we may both be working with the  
22 same witness.

23 Q Where you're providing the court orientation and  
24 they're providing more community support?

25 A If I was already providing the court orientation

1           then that part they knew was being dealt with so  
2           they would provide services.

3           Q   Do you remember a single instance where Crown  
4           counsel asked you to find their witness for them  
5           ever?

6           A   Where Crown asked me to find their witness?

7           Q   Yes.

8           A   No.

9           Q   Did you ever have witnesses come in to see you  
10          more than the one time, like did they come in on  
11          a continual basis if they needed extra support?

12          A   Yes.

13          Q   For some people it's extremely traumatic to  
14          testify, right?

15          A   Yes.

16          Q   Did you become the primary resource for people  
17          who were clearly going to need help preparing for  
18          court or were you one of the resources?

19          A   I'm sorry, what do you mean by "primary  
20          resource"?

21          Q   If someone is very scared about testifying and  
22          you know that, you've identified them?

23          A   Yes.

24          Q   And let's say this is a week before the trial  
25          date, what are you going to do with them?  Are

1           you going to liaise with other people or are you  
2           the main resource or what happens?

3           A    Once I had control of the file and was dealing  
4           with the witness then I would follow it through  
5           until the court process was finished. I would  
6           not pass that file or that witness on to anyone  
7           else.

8           Q    So you could work with a witness even if you only  
9           had a week if someone asked you to?

10          A    Yes.

11 MS. NARBONNE: Those are my questions. Thank you.

12 THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

13 **CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. CHANTLER:**

14          Q    Ms. Smith, my name is Neil Chantler. I'm counsel  
15           for 25 of the murdered and missing women. I just  
16           have a few questions for you today.

17                   I understand your testimony today to be that  
18           you don't have any specific recollection of your  
19           dealings with Ms. Anderson on that file. Perhaps  
20           more generally speaking then, what types of  
21           things would you do to assist a drug addicted  
22           victim in his or her participation in a court  
23           process? Could you describe that for me?

24          A    I don't know if I can answer in terms of if the  
25           person was drug addicted. I just know if an

1 individual was going to testify in court, my role  
2 would be to assist them to be familiar with the  
3 process of testifying in court in terms of the  
4 personnel and people that were going to be in the  
5 courtroom so if they'd never been in a courtroom  
6 before so they were familiar.

7 Q If an apparent drug or substance abuse issue was  
8 getting in the way of successfully orienting them  
9 to the courtroom and successfully making them  
10 feel comfortable with the process that they were  
11 about to go through, was there any procedure you  
12 had in place to deal with that problem, substance  
13 abuse problem?

14 A Again, if there was a person that had a substance  
15 abuse problem it wouldn't be for me to deal with,  
16 it would be a referral to a resource that would  
17 deal with those problems.

18 Q That's precisely my question. What would you do?  
19 You would refer them to an external agency who  
20 could deal with the substance abuse program?

21 A I've never had that issue to deal with so I can't  
22 comment.

23 Q You don't recall ever dealing with a witness who  
24 was a victim in your role who had a substance  
25 abuse issue?

1           A    That I had to deal with, that I had to make a  
2                    referral or physically do something myself.

3           Q    In your recollection substance abuse has never  
4                    got in the way of you accomplishing your role of  
5                    orienting somebody to the court process?

6           A    Not that I can recall.

7           Q    Would referral to emergency housing have been  
8                    something that you would have done in the past  
9                    with a victim?

10          A    No.

11          Q    Was building a relationship with the victim you  
12                   were working with part of your strategy?

13          A    No -- maybe I should ask for clarification.  What  
14                   do you mean by "building a relationship"?

15          Q    Well, I would expect that building a relationship  
16                   would involve more than one interaction, perhaps  
17                   over a period of time, developing a sense of  
18                   trust.  Was this any part of your overall  
19                   strategy in dealing with victims of crime?

20          A    My strategy for dealing with victims of crime  
21                   would be based on their knowledge of the court  
22                   system and how much information I could impart on  
23                   them at one given time.  I would not want to  
24                   overwhelm them by taking them into the courtroom  
25                   and overwhelming them with all the personnel



1 knowing that would not be of assistance to them  
2 once it came time for the trial or preliminary  
3 hearing, so I would certainly do it in stages if  
4 need be and it would depend on the individual and  
5 their ability.

6 Q Was your dealing with the victim strictly in the  
7 courtroom or did you contact them at their place  
8 of residence? Did you phone them, did you ever  
9 visit them outside of the courthouse?

10 A I did not visit them, but yes, phone calls were  
11 made to set up interviews and arrange for that  
12 individual to come to the courthouse to meet with  
13 me.

14 Q Were there instances in your career where you  
15 difficulty reaching someone perhaps because they  
16 had no fixed address?

17 A Yes.

18 Q Would you seek the assistance of the police in  
19 finding the victim?

20 A Yes.

21 Q You did that on numerous occasions in your  
22 career?

23 A Yes.

24 Q You've testified that you worked collaboratively  
25 with the Police Victim Service unit. Did you

1 sometimes seek their assistance in not only  
2 finding but maintaining contact with the victim?

3 A Perhaps you could repeat that.

4 Q Would you work together with the Police Victim  
5 Service unit on maintaining contact with the  
6 victim you were working with?

7 A Certainly if I had lost contact with that witness  
8 I would contact resources that I was aware of  
9 that had contact with that person to see if they  
10 had updated information or contact information.

11 Q You have no specific recollection of doing that  
12 in Ms. Anderson's case?

13 A No.

14 Q You testified to my friend Mr. Gratl that you  
15 were mistaken when on February 1st in your  
16 interview with Mr. Celle you referred to the  
17 meeting with Ms. Anderson and feeling that you  
18 were surprised that she seemed to be such a  
19 normal person given she was someone who worked on  
20 the street; you were mistaken when you were  
21 describing that to Mr. Celle?

22 A I was.

23 Q Can we take it as well you were mistaken when you  
24 described to Mr. Celle at the end of the  
25 interview that you had accompanied Ms. Anderson

1 to her trial? Do you recall that happening at  
2 the end of your interview?

3 A Again, I was mistaken. That was in error.

4 Q You recall what I'm referring to in your  
5 interview with Mr. Celle?

6 A Yes.

7 Q So, again, you were mistaken about the victim;  
8 that was some other victim you were thinking of  
9 when you were telling Mr. Celle that story?

10 A That's right. I can only recall the interview  
11 with Crown.

12 MR. CHANTLER: Those are my questions. Thank you.

13 THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

14 **EXAMINATION BY MR. MAJAWA:**

15 Q Andrew Majawa for the Government of Canada and  
16 RCMP. I have a few questions for you this  
17 morning, Ms. Smith, and like my friend I  
18 understand that you may not have an independent  
19 recollection of these events so my questions will  
20 be more general in nature.

21 The first area is with to how or when the  
22 optimal time for Crown Victim Services was to get  
23 involved with a witness. Would it be when the  
24 trial date was set or before that time?

25 A It could be before that time. It could be at the

1 stage of when the police were still doing their  
2 investigation and there were no charges forwarded  
3 to the Crown office that an individual may have  
4 been identified.

5 Q So there was not necessarily a particular time  
6 where contact with a witness or a victim was best  
7 done by?

8 A No.

9 Q And my understanding of this matter with Ms.  
10 Anderson is that the Police Victim Services in  
11 Coquitlam were referred to Ms. Anderson by Crown  
12 Victim Services. Does that ring a bell for you  
13 at all?

14 A It does not.

15 Q Is that something that would happen, Crown Victim  
16 Services would get in touch with the Police  
17 Victim Service and ask them to contact a witness?

18 A That could happen, yes.

19 Q In those situations when that would happen, what  
20 would then be the Crown Victim Services role  
21 between that time and the time that you would say  
22 set up a court orientation? Would there be a  
23 role for Crown Victim Services in that period of  
24 time?

25 A Are you asking me if Crown -- if victim service

1           made a referral to the police based, if there was  
2           a role for the Crown Victim Service at that time?

3           Q    That's right.

4           A    We did not make referrals to the police-based  
5           victim service so there wouldn't have been a  
6           role.  There would be a coordination of service  
7           if we were both dealing with the same individual.

8           Q    In response to an earlier question I thought that  
9           you had said yes, sometimes Crown Victim Services  
10          would make a referral to the Police Victim  
11          Services, but that's not your recollection,  
12          that's not something that would happen in your  
13          recollection?

14          A    We would not make a referral to the Police Victim  
15          Service.

16          Q    Is it my understanding -- is my understanding  
17          correct that Crown Victim Services and the  
18          services that they can provide by way of  
19          referring a witness to community-based services,  
20          that that's a consent-driven model?  Do you  
21          understand what I mean by that?

22          A    Could you repeat the question please?

23          Q    Sure.  I'll break it down a little bit.  You had  
24          testified earlier that one of the services you  
25          provide was referrals to other agencies for

1 victims of crime or witnesses?

2 A Yes.

3 Q And in your experience did you have cases where a  
4 person would refuse those referrals if they were  
5 offered, a person didn't want to be referred to  
6 an agency or any other support?

7 A Usually referrals were made based on the consent  
8 from the individual.

9 Q So if someone didn't want to be referred to a  
10 community agency or any kind of assistance,  
11 there's nothing you could do to force them to  
12 take that kind of a referral?

13 A That's right, there's nothing I could do.

14 Q My review of the file, and I assume from your  
15 answer to Mr. Gratl's question is that you didn't  
16 review any documents in preparation for your  
17 testimony today; is that right? You didn't  
18 review any documents, any notes in preparation  
19 for your testimony today?

20 A No.

21 Q My review of the file shows some communication  
22 from police-based victim services to Crown Victim  
23 Services addressed to you looking for more  
24 contact information for Ms. Anderson. Is that  
25 something that would happen on a regular basis?

1 A That could happen but I don't recall that  
2 information.

3 Q And if that would happen, if you became aware  
4 that Police Victim Services was having difficulty  
5 having contact with a witness or a victim would  
6 you make Crown counsel aware of that?

7 A If I was aware that Police Victim Service was  
8 having difficulty contacting?

9 Q Yes.

10 A If they shared that information with me,  
11 certainly it would be something that I would  
12 share with Crown.

13 Q And it's something that would -- communication  
14 like that is something that would go into the  
15 Crown Victim Services file, I assume?

16 A Yes.

17 Q And did Crown at that point have access to the  
18 Crown Victim Services file while it was being  
19 acted on?

20 A Yes.

21 Q You've testified that it was not your role  
22 certainly to locate victims or witness. Would  
23 you ever engage the police to attempt to locate  
24 or bring in a witness or a victim, is that  
25 something you would ever do?

1           A    I would contact the police for current -- for  
2                    contact information, but I certainly would not  
3                    request that -- I had no authority to request the  
4                    police go look for anyone, so no, I would not.

5           Q    In your experience when you would request contact  
6                    information, I assume that that would be -- the  
7                    police would do their best to give it to you,  
8                    they would cooperate with you?

9           A    Yes.

10 MR. MAJAWA:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

11 THE COMMISSIONER:  Anyone else?

12 MR. VERTLIEB:  Mr. Doust has asked for some time but he cannot  
13                    be here.  He can be here for 1:45; it's  
14                    impossible for him to be here this morning.  
15                    We've made good progress and that would be last  
16                    area of questions.  Mr. Doust has said 40 minutes  
17                    and he may be less than that once he's briefed on  
18                    the evidence we've heard.  Because of that I  
19                    would ask that we stand down until 1:45.

20 THE COMMISSIONER:  Mr. Feder, can't you do this for Mr. Doust?

21 MR. FEDER:  Mr. Commissioner, I would like to do so but I'm  
22                    unfortunately not prepared to do so.

23 THE COMMISSIONER:  So we'll wait for Mr. Doust.  All right.

24                    We'll adjourn until 1:45.

25 THE REGISTRAR:  This hearing is now adjourned until 1:45 p.m.



1 (PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 11:50 P.M.)

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10 I hereby certify the foregoing to  
11 be a true and accurate transcript  
12 of the proceedings transcribed to  
13 the best of my skill and ability.

14

15

16 Margaret M. Wills

17 UNITED REPORTING SERVICE LTD.

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1

2

**EXHIBITS**

3

4

5 **NO.**

**DESCRIPTION**

**PAGE**

6

7 **(EXHIBIT 144: Photograph of Olivia Williams)**

2

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25

**INDEX OF PROCEEDINGS**

**Chris Joseph (for the Families)**

**In chief by Mr. Chantler 1**

**Roxana Smith (for the Commission)**

**In chief by Mr. Vertlieb 11**

**Cross-exam by Mr. Gratl 19**

**Cross-exam by Ms. Narbonne 28**

**Cross-exam by Mr. Chantler 38**

**Proceedings 49**

	<b>4</b>	13:20, 13:21, 28:16, 35:10, 35:19, 35:25, 36:5, 39:10, 45:20, 45:24 <b>ago</b> [2] - 18:11, 20:1 <b>agreeable</b> [1] - 1:10 <b>alcohol</b> [7] - 4:11, 7:20, 7:22, 9:20, 28:5, 28:11, 28:17 <b>allowed</b> [1] - 10:7 <b>almost</b> [1] - 9:13 <b>Anderson</b> [35] - 13:14, 15:5, 15:8, 15:9, 15:24, 16:5, 16:19, 18:4, 18:5, 18:18, 19:8, 19:20, 20:5, 20:18, 20:23, 20:25, 21:3, 22:14, 22:16, 26:10, 28:25, 29:6, 29:8, 29:10, 29:18, 30:7, 33:1, 33:7, 34:11, 38:10, 42:7, 42:15, 43:25, 44:1, 46:13 <b>Anderson's</b> [1] - 42:2 <b>Andrew</b> [2] - 11:16, 43:5 <b>answer</b> [3] - 35:9, 38:15, 46:4 <b>anticipated</b> [1] - 27:5 <b>apparent</b> [2] - 17:25, 38:23 <b>appeared</b> [1] - 16:6 <b>appreciate</b> [2] - 18:22, 29:4 <b>approached</b> [3] - 33:5, 33:7, 34:4 <b>appropriate</b> [1] - 18:2 <b>April</b> [1] - 1:2 <b>area</b> [2] - 43:11, 48:4 <b>arrange</b> [2] - 31:6, 41:2 <b>arrived</b> [1] - 26:12 <b>ASIDE</b> [1] - 10:25 <b>assault</b> [2] - 21:16, 24:16 <b>assaults</b> [1] - 21:20 <b>assigned</b> [1] - 32:2 <b>assist</b> [9] - 15:11, 15:14, 17:21, 18:1, 18:3, 18:7, 27:4, 38:12, 38:18 <b>assistance</b> [6] - 30:24, 31:5, 40:17, 41:9, 41:16, 45:24 <b>Assistance</b> [1] - 13:9 <b>assistant</b> [1] - 13:18 <b>assume</b> [3] - 46:3, 47:4, 47:20 <b>AT</b> [4] - 1:3, 8:22, 8:23, 48:15 <b>attempt</b> [1] - 47:12 <b>attempting</b> [1] - 19:5 <b>attend</b> [1] - 15:23 <b>attendance</b> [1] - 8:11 <b>attended</b> [2] - 3:17, 4:7 <b>attention</b> [2] - 17:22, 31:23 <b>aunt</b> [1] - 7:12 <b>authority</b> [1] - 47:17 <b>available</b> [5] - 24:14, 25:9, 25:17, 25:25, 35:23 <b>aware</b> [9] - 2:22, 2:25, 25:16, 31:25, 33:18, 41:23, 46:17, 46:20, 46:21	<b>brief</b> [1] - 11:20 <b>briefed</b> [1] - 48:6 <b>briefest</b> [1] - 14:3 <b>briefly</b> [1] - 11:25 <b>bring</b> [2] - 17:22, 47:13 <b>brother</b> [1] - 1:20 <b>brought</b> [1] - 7:17 <b>building</b> [3] - 40:2, 40:5, 40:6 <b>burden</b> [1] - 22:7 <b>buried</b> [1] - 3:23 <b>Burns</b> [9] - 3:8, 3:10, 3:17, 6:12, 6:19, 6:20, 7:6, 7:16, 7:18 <b>bus</b> [1] - 7:13 <b>BY</b> [6] - 1:19, 11:24, 19:2, 28:21, 38:4, 43:4
	<b>6</b>		
	<b>1</b>		
'89 [1] - 21:10 '90s [1] - 12:2	40 [2] - 11:12, 48:5 49 [1] - 2:11		
	<b>A</b>		
1 [2] - 20:2, 2:3 10 [1] - 3:19 10:40 [1] - 1:3 10:48 [1] - 8:22 10:54 [1] - 8:23 11 [1] - 2:6 11:50 [1] - 48:15 120 [2] - 6:14, 6:20 13 [1] - 23:8 144 [3] - 2:19, 2:20, 1:5 15 [5] - 4:3, 6:10, 11:18, 11:20, 18:10 16 [5] - 3:6, 4:3, 6:10, 12:4, 12:5 18 [1] - 1:2 19 [2] - 4:25, 2:7 1971 [1] - 3:6 1975 [1] - 5:2 1989 [1] - 12:22 1995 [4] - 6:12, 6:25, 7:1, 7:6 1996 [2] - 1:25, 7:9 1998 [9] - 13:14, 13:15, 15:5, 15:6, 15:12, 15:14, 16:22, 18:13, 19:6 1:45 [4] - 48:2, 48:8, 48:13, 48:14 1st [1] - 42:5	6 [2] - 1:25, 7:9 <b>A.M</b> [2] - 1:3, 8:23 <b>ability</b> [2] - 40:21, 49:7 <b>able</b> [4] - 5:17, 10:4, 17:13, 17:14 <b>aboriginal</b> [1] - 28:23 <b>abuse</b> [8] - 7:22, 9:16, 38:23, 39:3, 39:6, 39:11, 39:16, 39:19 <b>abused</b> [1] - 9:14 <b>access</b> [1] - 47:6 <b>accompanied</b> [1] - 42:15 <b>accompaniment</b> [1] - 32:5 <b>accomplishing</b> [1] - 39:20 <b>accordance</b> [1] - 11:13 <b>accurate</b> [1] - 49:5 <b>achieve</b> [1] - 10:5 <b>acted</b> [1] - 47:8 <b>activity</b> [1] - 13:11 <b>actual</b> [1] - 15:13 <b>addicted</b> [2] - 38:12, 38:16 <b>address</b> [1] - 41:7 <b>addressed</b> [1] - 46:12 <b>adjourn</b> [2] - 8:21, 48:13 <b>adjourned</b> [1] - 48:14 <b>ADJOURNED</b> [2] - 8:22, 48:15 <b>advance</b> [2] - 27:5, 27:8 <b>affected</b> [1] - 18:12 <b>Affirmed</b> [2] - 1:13, 11:5 <b>afterwards</b> [1] - 33:17 <b>age</b> [2] - 3:13, 5:4 <b>agencies</b> [3] - 18:3, 31:3, 45:14 <b>agency</b> [11] - 13:19,		
	<b>2</b>		
	<b>3</b>		
2 [2] - 4:14, 1:5 20 [2] - 4:7, 11:12 2002 [1] - 21:10 2006 [1] - 13:4 2012 [2] - 1:2, 20:2 23rd [1] - 15:5 25 [1] - 38:6 26th [1] - 15:6 28 [1] - 2:8			
30 [1] - 11:11 38 [1] - 2:9			
		<b>B</b>	<b>C</b>
		<b>babbling</b> [1] - 22:24 <b>Babine</b> [2] - 3:10, 5:14 <b>baby</b> [3] - 6:21, 7:15, 7:17 <b>background</b> [3] - 3:4, 11:25, 16:15 <b>based</b> [7] - 14:8, 40:12, 44:15, 44:18, 45:8, 45:21, 46:11 <b>basis</b> [2] - 37:4, 46:14 <b>Battered</b> [1] - 25:15 <b>battered</b> [1] - 24:15 <b>BC</b> [2] - 1:1, 4:4 <b>BCIT</b> [1] - 12:18 <b>became</b> [3] - 12:20, 13:2, 46:17 <b>become</b> [1] - 37:9 <b>began</b> [1] - 12:22 <b>beginning</b> [1] - 16:16 <b>behalf</b> [1] - 10:7 <b>bell</b> [1] - 44:2 <b>benefit</b> [1] - 14:1 <b>best</b> [3] - 43:21, 47:21, 49:7 <b>better</b> [1] - 4:6 <b>between</b> [2] - 14:3, 44:11 <b>bit</b> [2] - 3:21, 45:12 <b>board</b> [1] - 10:11 <b>born</b> [2] - 3:6, 4:25 <b>boy</b> [1] - 9:19 <b>Branch</b> [1] - 11:12 <b>break</b> [3] - 8:17, 8:19, 45:12	<b>Canada</b> [2] - 11:16, 43:5 <b>cancer</b> [1] - 18:14 <b>cannot</b> [9] - 16:2, 16:4, 16:7, 16:10, 16:21, 18:8, 19:10, 26:11, 48:1 <b>capacity</b> [1] - 12:24 <b>card</b> [2] - 35:22, 35:24 <b>care</b> [4] - 5:4, 6:2, 9:23, 12:16 <b>career</b> [4] - 12:3, 20:16, 41:5, 41:12 <b>case</b> [9] - 18:4, 27:6, 31:7, 32:8, 34:10, 34:11, 34:13, 34:17, 42:2 <b>cases</b> [4] - 14:13, 31:18, 33:6, 45:17 <b>Catholic</b> [1] - 3:17 <b>Celle</b> [7] - 19:24, 20:5, 42:6, 42:11, 42:14, 42:20, 42:24 <b>CELLE</b> [1] - 19:24 <b>centre</b> [1] - 4:7 <b>certain</b> [1] - 34:7 <b>Certainly</b> [2] - 25:18, 41:22 <b>certainly</b> [6] - 28:7, 36:9, 40:19, 46:24, 47:11, 47:16 <b>certification</b> [1] - 13:5 <b>certified</b> [1] - 13:2 <b>certify</b> [1] - 49:4 <b>challenged</b> [1] - 12:9

<p><b>CHANTLER</b> [10] - 1:5, 1:16, 1:19, 2:16, 2:21, 8:18, 8:25, 10:20, 38:4, 43:2  <b>Chantler</b> [4] - 1:5, 11:12, 38:5, 2:3  <b>charges</b> [2] - 2:22, 43:17  <b>chief</b> [2] - 2:3, 2:6  <b>CHIEF</b> [2] - 1:19, 11:24  <b>childhood</b> [1] - 3:14  <b>Chilliwack</b> [1] - 3:24  <b>Chris</b> [2] - 1:7, 2:2  <b>CHRIS</b> [1] - 1:13  <b>Christopher</b> [1] - 1:15  <b>circumstances</b> [1] - 21:22  <b>clarification</b> [1] - 40:4  <b>clearly</b> [1] - 37:10  <b>clouded</b> [1] - 23:6  <b>co</b> [1] - 18:23  <b>co-operative</b> [1] - 18:23  <b>collaboratively</b> [1] - 41:14  <b>colleague</b> [1] - 11:17  <b>College</b> [1] - 13:6  <b>comfortable</b> [1] - 39:1  <b>coming</b> [6] - 10:13, 10:16, 17:19, 18:22, 18:23, 27:8  <b>comment</b> [3] - 20:9, 20:12, 39:13  <b>commission</b> [7] - 1:9, 8:10, 8:13, 8:14, 9:5, 10:4, 11:17  <b>Commission</b> [1] - 2:5  <b>commissioner</b> [5] - 8:15, 9:3, 10:3, 15:20, 18:19  <b>Commissioner</b> [7] - 1:5, 1:16, 10:6, 11:2, 11:10, 18:25, 48:10  <b>COMMISSIONER</b> [13] - 1:12, 1:18, 2:18, 8:17, 10:13, 10:23, 11:19, 19:1, 38:3, 43:3, 47:25, 48:9, 48:12  <b>commissioner's</b> [2] - 11:23, 14:1  <b>communication</b> [2] - 46:10, 47:2  <b>community</b> [12] - 14:10, 17:17, 24:4,</p>	<p>24:6, 25:10, 25:17, 31:3, 35:19, 36:17, 45:8, 45:24  <b>community-based</b> [1] - 45:8  <b>comparison</b> [1] - 29:2  <b>compensation</b> [1] - 28:2  <b>complainant</b> [1] - 22:2  <b>component</b> [1] - 24:19  <b>confident</b> [2] - 29:18, 29:19  <b>confidential</b> [1] - 34:8  <b>confirm</b> [2] - 2:2, 2:14  <b>connected</b> [1] - 2:25  <b>connection</b> [1] - 2:23  <b>Connor</b> [5] - 15:1, 15:7, 15:10, 29:19  <b>consent</b> [2] - 45:9, 45:21  <b>consent-driven</b> [1] - 45:9  <b>contact</b> [17] - 25:11, 30:5, 35:25, 40:23, 41:17, 41:20, 41:22, 41:23, 41:24, 41:25, 43:21, 44:7, 46:12, 46:19, 47:15, 47:16, 47:19  <b>contacted</b> [2] - 5:19, 27:3  <b>contacting</b> [2] - 31:5, 46:22  <b>context</b> [4] - 16:9, 25:5, 25:6, 34:19  <b>continual</b> [1] - 37:4  <b>control</b> [1] - 37:20  <b>cooperate</b> [1] - 47:22  <b>coordinated</b> [1] - 36:12  <b>coordination</b> [1] - 44:20  <b>cops</b> [2] - 10:8, 10:11  <b>Coquitlam</b> [4] - 13:16, 14:25, 25:19, 44:1  <b>correct</b> [10] - 1:25, 3:1, 3:15, 8:4, 8:8, 21:16, 23:14, 30:9, 34:21, 45:6  <b>correcting</b> [1] - 2:10  <b>correctly</b> [1] - 2:7  <b>counsel</b> [14] - 1:5, 1:9, 11:17, 12:23,</p>	<p>14:25, 15:8, 16:20, 19:3, 28:23, 31:24, 36:22, 38:5, 46:20  <b>Counselling</b> [1] - 28:2  <b>counselling</b> [8] - 17:15, 25:3, 25:7, 25:9, 26:16, 28:5, 28:11, 28:17  <b>counsellors</b> [1] - 25:10  <b>couple</b> [2] - 20:1, 28:24  <b>course</b> [2] - 21:13, 26:24  <b>court</b> [28] - 11:2, 14:5, 14:8, 14:9, 17:12, 17:13, 17:18, 17:19, 18:1, 19:8, 22:9, 31:8, 31:9, 31:10, 31:15, 32:5, 32:6, 33:13, 36:16, 36:18, 37:11, 37:22, 38:13, 38:17, 38:19, 39:21, 40:12, 44:12  <b>courthouse</b> [12] - 13:16, 14:6, 14:18, 14:25, 17:11, 25:19, 26:12, 26:18, 26:20, 26:21, 40:25, 41:3  <b>courtroom</b> [10] - 14:21, 22:11, 31:11, 31:12, 31:13, 38:21, 38:25, 40:15, 40:23  <b>courts</b> [2] - 3:13, 6:8  <b>created</b> [2] - 30:8, 30:11  <b>Crime</b> [1] - 13:8  <b>crime</b> [6] - 17:10, 25:2, 31:4, 40:10, 40:11, 45:15  <b>crimes</b> [3] - 23:12, 23:13  <b>Criminal</b> [1] - 11:11  <b>criminal</b> [3] - 13:11, 27:17, 28:2  <b>critical</b> [1] - 24:1  <b>Cross</b> [4] - 19:1, 2:7, 2:8, 2:9  <b>CROSS</b> [3] - 19:2, 28:21, 38:4  <b>Cross-exam</b> [3] - 2:7, 2:8, 2:9  <b>Cross-examination</b> [1] - 19:1  <b>CROSS-EXAMINATION</b> [3] - 19:2, 28:21, 38:4  <b>Crown</b> [79] - 12:22, 13:19, 13:21, 13:24,</p>	<p>14:5, 14:16, 14:25, 15:7, 15:23, 15:24, 16:20, 17:18, 17:22, 18:6, 20:24, 21:9, 21:14, 22:3, 22:7, 22:16, 22:19, 22:20, 24:9, 24:11, 26:4, 26:22, 26:23, 26:24, 27:1, 27:2, 27:11, 28:10, 28:16, 29:2, 29:9, 29:12, 30:14, 30:16, 30:18, 31:2, 31:24, 32:1, 32:9, 32:13, 32:15, 32:20, 32:22, 33:5, 33:7, 34:1, 34:7, 34:13, 34:25, 35:6, 35:8, 35:10, 35:12, 36:1, 36:21, 36:24, 43:1, 43:12, 43:18, 44:1, 44:5, 44:10, 44:13, 44:14, 44:16, 44:23, 45:6, 46:11, 46:20, 47:1, 47:4, 47:6, 47:7  <b>crying</b> [1] - 7:14  <b>curl</b> [1] - 6:24  <b>current</b> [1] - 47:15</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>D</b></p> <p><b>dad</b> [3] - 5:9, 7:4, 9:11  <b>date</b> [8] - 15:4, 15:10, 15:11, 17:1, 31:16, 33:1, 37:17, 43:14  <b>daughter</b> [1] - 7:5  <b>days</b> [4] - 8:11, 9:2, 12:25, 31:17  <b>deal</b> [7] - 17:23, 39:3, 39:6, 39:8, 39:11, 39:12, 39:17  <b>dealing</b> [8] - 13:10, 32:4, 37:20, 39:14, 40:10, 40:11, 40:22, 44:21  <b>dealings</b> [3] - 18:18, 32:25, 38:10  <b>dealt</b> [4] - 17:1, 20:13, 20:17, 36:19  <b>December</b> [2] - 1:25, 7:9  <b>decide</b> [3] - 25:7, 34:2, 35:11  <b>Definitely</b> [1] - 17:8  <b>definitely</b> [1] - 33:22  <b>dentist</b> [1] - 23:25  <b>depended</b> [2] - 31:21, 31:22</p>	<p><b>describe</b> [1] - 38:14  <b>described</b> [1] - 42:14  <b>describing</b> [1] - 42:10  <b>DESCRIPTION</b> [1] - 1:3  <b>desire</b> [1] - 8:12  <b>detox</b> [1] - 28:13  <b>developing</b> [1] - 40:8  <b>diagnosed</b> [1] - 18:14  <b>died</b> [2] - 3:23, 5:8  <b>difference</b> [2] - 14:2, 14:3  <b>different</b> [2] - 25:24, 36:6  <b>Different</b> [1] - 36:7  <b>differently</b> [1] - 33:14  <b>difficult</b> [3] - 10:14, 21:22, 22:2  <b>difficulty</b> [4] - 27:5, 41:6, 46:18, 46:22  <b>diploma</b> [1] - 12:18  <b>direct</b> [1] - 8:6  <b>directive</b> [3] - 11:14, 11:21, 11:23  <b>disabilities</b> [1] - 12:10  <b>disability</b> [2] - 4:14, 12:13  <b>Disabling</b> [1] - 12:15  <b>disappearance</b> [3] - 2:23, 3:5, 8:7  <b>disclosed</b> [1] - 1:23  <b>discuss</b> [2] - 11:25, 13:13  <b>discussed</b> [1] - 18:20  <b>discussion</b> [1] - 1:9  <b>distinct</b> [2] - 35:10, 36:5  <b>document</b> [1] - 30:4  <b>documents</b> [2] - 46:5, 46:7  <b>domestic</b> [4] - 21:20, 23:13, 24:16, 24:19  <b>Don</b> [1] - 19:24  <b>done</b> [3] - 32:6, 39:24, 43:22  <b>Douglas</b> [1] - 13:6  <b>Dust</b> [4] - 48:1, 48:5, 48:9, 48:12  <b>down</b> [5] - 7:13, 9:10, 18:16, 45:12, 48:8  <b>Downtown</b> [4] - 1:25, 7:8, 7:11, 19:3  <b>drank</b> [1] - 9:12  <b>drinking</b> [6] - 3:25,</p>
---	---	--	--	--

<p>4:1, 6:1, 6:5, 7:23, 9:22  <b>driven</b> [1] - 45:9  <b>drug</b> [9] - 19:6, 26:15, 28:4, 28:5, 28:10, 28:17, 38:12, 38:16, 38:23  <b>drugs</b> [4] - 4:11, 7:20, 7:22, 9:20  <b>duplicated</b> [1] - 36:8  <b>During</b> [1] - 20:4  <b>during</b> [1] - 15:15</p>	<p>21:13, 45:17, 47:19  <b>explaining</b> [1] - 31:11  <b>expressed</b> [1] - 8:12  <b>extent</b> [2] - 11:15, 34:7  <b>external</b> [1] - 39:10  <b>extra</b> [1] - 37:4  <b>extremely</b> [1] - 37:6</p>	<p>13:1  <b>Friday</b> [1] - 13:1  <b>friend</b> [2] - 42:4, 43:7</p>	<p><b>home</b> [8] - 4:2, 5:4, 5:9, 6:9, 7:18, 9:14, 9:17  <b>homes</b> [1] - 3:14  <b>hope</b> [3] - 9:25, 10:4  <b>hoping</b> [1] - 8:14  <b>hospital</b> [1] - 26:15  <b>hotel</b> [2] - 6:13, 6:20  <b>Hotel</b> [1] - 6:13  <b>hours</b> [1] - 13:1  <b>house</b> [4] - 4:1, 6:3, 6:6, 7:23  <b>houses</b> [1] - 25:12  <b>housing</b> [2] - 25:13, 39:23  <b>hundreds</b> [1] - 22:20  <b>husband</b> [1] - 18:14</p>	<p><b>interaction</b> [2] - 26:10, 40:7  <b>interested</b> [1] - 33:19  <b>interests</b> [3] - 19:4, 19:5, 28:23  <b>interview</b> [25] - 19:13, 19:15, 19:18, 20:1, 20:4, 20:10, 20:23, 22:16, 22:19, 23:14, 23:22, 26:6, 26:25, 29:5, 29:8, 32:15, 32:19, 33:4, 33:11, 33:15, 42:5, 42:14, 42:17, 42:19, 42:25  <b>interviewed</b> [1] - 19:23  <b>interviewing</b> [1] - 32:10  <b>interviews</b> [5] - 21:14, 22:1, 22:21, 32:13, 41:2  <b>introduce</b> [1] - 32:3  <b>investigation</b> [2] - 35:22, 43:17  <b>invitation</b> [1] - 24:11  <b>involve</b> [1] - 40:7  <b>involved</b> [7] - 12:20, 30:21, 31:25, 32:23, 35:12, 35:13, 43:13  <b>involvement</b> [1] - 8:6  <b>involving</b> [1] - 27:6  <b>irrational</b> [1] - 23:21  <b>isolated</b> [2] - 5:11, 5:21  <b>issue</b> [5] - 17:20, 18:11, 38:23, 39:12, 39:16  <b>issues</b> [1] - 17:23</p>
<p><b>E</b></p>	<p><b>F</b></p>	<p><b>G</b></p>	<p><b>I</b></p>	<p><b>J</b></p>
<p><b>east</b> [1] - 5:12  <b>Eastside</b> [4] - 1:25, 7:8, 7:11, 19:4  <b>Eight</b> [1] - 4:5  <b>either</b> [6] - 5:19, 7:13, 15:5, 24:6, 25:5, 28:9  <b>emergency</b> [1] - 39:23  <b>emotional</b> [5] - 22:1, 22:6, 22:7, 23:14, 25:2  <b>empty</b> [1] - 31:11  <b>end</b> [3] - 2:8, 42:14, 42:16  <b>ended</b> [1] - 7:10  <b>engage</b> [1] - 47:12  <b>error</b> [1] - 42:18  <b>escort</b> [1] - 19:9  <b>especially</b> [3] - 19:4, 23:12, 23:22  <b>event</b> [1] - 18:10  <b>events</b> [4] - 13:13, 18:13, 23:5, 43:9  <b>evidence</b> [2] - 1:17, 48:6  <b>exam</b> [3] - 2:7, 2:8, 2:9  <b>examination</b> [1] - 19:1  <b>EXAMINATION</b> [6] - 1:19, 11:24, 19:2, 28:21, 38:4, 43:4  <b>example</b> [1] - 27:6  <b>exhibit</b> [1] - 2:17  <b>Exhibit</b> [1] - 2:19  <b>EXHIBIT</b> [2] - 2:20, 1:5  <b>EXHIBITS</b> [1] - 1:1  <b>exist</b> [1] - 35:20  <b>expect</b> [2] - 11:20, 40:6  <b>expected</b> [1] - 34:25  <b>experience</b> [3] -</p>	<p><b>facilitate</b> [1] - 27:17  <b>fair</b> [1] - 16:16  <b>familiar</b> [2] - 38:18, 38:22  <b>familiarize</b> [1] - 22:10  <b>families</b> [1] - 1:6  <b>Families</b> [1] - 2:2  <b>family</b> [3] - 5:10, 9:17, 10:17  <b>farm</b> [1] - 3:1  <b>fears</b> [1] - 17:19  <b>February</b> [3] - 20:2, 42:5  <b>Feder</b> [1] - 48:9  <b>FEDER</b> [1] - 48:10  <b>few</b> [4] - 4:4, 18:15, 38:7, 43:6  <b>file</b> [18] - 20:20, 29:3, 30:10, 30:11, 30:13, 32:2, 34:1, 34:14, 35:12, 35:13, 37:20, 37:23, 38:10, 46:3, 46:10, 47:4, 47:7  <b>files</b> [10] - 29:25, 30:1, 30:2, 30:14, 30:15, 30:16, 30:17, 30:18, 34:7, 36:11  <b>finished</b> [2] - 3:19, 37:22  <b>first</b> [5] - 9:7, 12:3, 12:20, 30:22, 43:11  <b>firstly</b> [1] - 29:22  <b>Firstly</b> [2] - 9:4, 29:4  <b>fishing</b> [1] - 5:21  <b>five</b> [1] - 8:21  <b>fixed</b> [2] - 6:22, 41:7  <b>focus</b> [2] - 3:4, 14:5  <b>follow</b> [1] - 37:21  <b>force</b> [1] - 45:25  <b>foregoing</b> [1] - 49:4  <b>formulate</b> [1] - 22:25  <b>forth</b> [1] - 23:1  <b>forwarded</b> [1] - 43:17  <b>foster</b> [2] - 5:4, 7:18  <b>four</b> [3] - 3:23, 5:2,</p>	<p><b>gallery</b> [1] - 2:16  <b>gender</b> [1] - 23:12  <b>general</b> [4] - 23:3, 23:4, 23:7, 43:10  <b>generally</b> [2] - 34:19, 38:11  <b>Giles</b> [1] - 11:8  <b>girl</b> [1] - 5:23  <b>girls</b> [1] - 10:10  <b>given</b> [3] - 34:14, 40:14, 42:8  <b>Government</b> [2] - 11:16, 43:5  <b>grade</b> [1] - 3:19  <b>grandfather</b> [1] - 5:20  <b>Gratl</b> [3] - 11:19, 19:3, 42:4  <b>GRATL</b> [3] - 11:20, 19:2, 28:20  <b>Gratl's</b> [1] - 46:4  <b>grew</b> [1] - 3:10  <b>group</b> [5] - 3:14, 4:2, 6:9, 25:5  <b>groups</b> [1] - 11:9  <b>growing</b> [1] - 6:1</p>	<p><b>idea</b> [3] - 29:1, 30:13, 32:25  <b>identified</b> [5] - 28:6, 28:9, 35:22, 37:14, 43:19  <b>impart</b> [1] - 40:13  <b>important</b> [1] - 10:15  <b>impossible</b> [1] - 48:2  <b>IN</b> [2] - 1:19, 11:24  <b>included</b> [2] - 24:15, 28:4  <b>incoherent</b> [8] - 21:4, 22:23, 23:17, 23:21, 26:13, 26:19, 27:2, 27:23  <b>independent</b> [1] - 43:8  <b>INDEX</b> [1] - 2:1  <b>indicate</b> [1] - 17:6  <b>indicating</b> [1] - 31:3  <b>individual</b> [15] - 19:23, 21:22, 25:6, 25:8, 30:6, 30:25, 31:18, 31:20, 31:22, 38:17, 40:20, 41:3, 43:18, 44:21, 45:22  <b>individuals</b> [4] - 12:8, 14:7, 26:4, 26:7  <b>indulgence</b> [1] - 1:11  <b>information</b> [9] - 11:22, 40:13, 41:25, 46:13, 46:16, 46:24, 47:16, 47:20  <b>informed</b> [1] - 11:17  <b>injury</b> [1] - 28:2  <b>inquiry</b> [3] - 1:24, 8:15, 9:6  <b>instance</b> [1] - 36:21  <b>instances</b> [1] - 41:5</p>	<p><b>January</b> [5] - 4:25, 13:15, 15:5, 15:6, 19:6  <b>Jason</b> [1] - 19:3  <b>job</b> [5] - 14:20, 22:8, 24:3, 35:3, 35:4  <b>jobs</b> [1] - 14:4  <b>joined</b> [1] - 30:17  <b>Joseph</b> [11] - 1:7, 1:15, 2:11, 2:22, 3:3, 8:10, 8:19, 9:1, 10:21, 10:23, 2:2  <b>JOSEPH</b> [1] - 1:13  <b>July</b> [1] - 3:6  <b>justice</b> [1] - 27:17  <b>Justice</b> [1] - 11:11</p>

K	M			
<p><b>keep</b> [2] - 29:25, 30:1  <b>kept</b> [1] - 7:12  <b>kind</b> [6] - 12:6, 25:6, 30:21, 34:13, 45:24, 46:1  <b>kinds</b> [1] - 24:23  <b>knowing</b> [1] - 40:17  <b>knowledge</b> [4] - 7:25, 17:3, 17:5, 40:12</p>	<p><b>main</b> [2] - 14:20, 37:19  <b>maintaining</b> [2] - 41:17, 41:20  <b>MAJAWA</b> [3] - 11:16, 43:4, 47:24  <b>Majawa</b> [2] - 11:16, 43:5  <b>Makosz</b> [1] - 11:17  <b>manager</b> [1] - 13:18  <b>mandate</b> [1] - 36:9  <b>Margaret</b> [1] - 49:10  <b>marked</b> [1] - 2:17  <b>matter</b> [1] - 43:24  <b>mean</b> [10] - 18:10, 23:17, 25:5, 26:16, 26:20, 33:16, 36:13, 37:12, 40:5, 45:10  <b>means</b> [1] - 36:14  <b>meant</b> [1] - 31:10  <b>meet</b> [7] - 26:21, 26:23, 26:24, 27:1, 27:10, 31:6, 41:3  <b>meeting</b> [14] - 14:24, 15:4, 15:7, 15:9, 15:20, 15:21, 15:22, 15:23, 15:24, 16:1, 16:19, 20:5, 33:2, 42:6  <b>memory</b> [9] - 15:13, 15:22, 16:5, 16:8, 18:12, 20:25, 23:6, 29:10, 29:14  <b>mental</b> [1] - 12:13  <b>mentally</b> [1] - 12:9  <b>met</b> [4] - 20:5, 20:12, 30:3, 30:7  <b>might</b> [2] - 17:5, 32:12  <b>mind</b> [7] - 19:17, 20:8, 20:9, 21:2, 22:25, 23:1, 23:23  <b>ministry</b> [2] - 5:8, 7:15  <b>minutes</b> [7] - 8:21, 11:11, 11:12, 11:13, 11:18, 11:20, 48:5  <b>missing</b> [4] - 2:3, 7:8, 9:10, 38:6  <b>mistake</b> [1] - 2:9  <b>mistaken</b> [7] - 20:11, 20:18, 42:5, 42:10, 42:13, 42:18, 42:22  <b>model</b> [1] - 45:9  <b>molestation</b> [1] - 24:23  <b>mom</b> [1] - 5:8</p>	<p><b>mom's</b> [1] - 5:9  <b>moments</b> [1] - 18:20  <b>Monday</b> [1] - 13:1  <b>month</b> [1] - 15:13  <b>months</b> [4] - 4:16, 18:15, 20:1, 31:17  <b>morning</b> [2] - 43:7, 48:3  <b>Most</b> [1] - 9:20  <b>most</b> [2] - 10:18, 35:8  <b>mother</b> [2] - 3:21, 3:23  <b>MR</b> [23] - 1:5, 1:16, 1:19, 2:16, 2:21, 8:18, 8:25, 10:20, 11:1, 11:8, 11:16, 11:20, 11:21, 11:24, 18:22, 19:2, 28:20, 38:4, 43:2, 43:4, 47:24, 48:1, 48:10  <b>MS</b> [2] - 28:21, 38:2  <b>murdered</b> [1] - 38:6</p>	<p><b>note</b> [1] - 19:7  <b>notes</b> [5] - 29:16, 29:23, 29:24, 30:8, 46:7  <b>nothing</b> [3] - 20:22, 45:25, 46:2  <b>Nothing</b> [1] - 21:2  <b>notice</b> [3] - 1:10, 18:24, 27:8  <b>numb</b> [1] - 9:13  <b>number</b> [1] - 25:21  <b>numerous</b> [2] - 8:11, 41:12  <b>nuns'</b> [1] - 5:9  <b>nurse</b> [1] - 12:5  <b>nursing</b> [3] - 12:4, 12:6, 12:18</p>	<p><b>operative</b> [1] - 18:23  <b>Oppal</b> [1] - 10:6  <b>opportunity</b> [2] - 26:25, 27:10  <b>optimal</b> [1] - 43:12  <b>ordinary</b> [7] - 19:21, 21:2, 21:25, 23:11, 23:13, 23:16, 26:3  <b>orientation</b> [13] - 14:6, 14:9, 22:9, 31:8, 31:9, 31:10, 31:15, 32:6, 33:14, 33:16, 36:16, 36:18, 44:12  <b>orientations</b> [1] - 31:19  <b>orienting</b> [2] - 38:24, 39:21  <b>outside</b> [1] - 40:25  <b>overall</b> [1] - 40:9  <b>overwhelm</b> [1] - 40:15  <b>overwhelming</b> [1] - 40:16  <b>own</b> [6] - 6:10, 17:20, 24:7, 26:6, 30:14, 30:15  <b>owned</b> [1] - 30:16</p>
L				
<p><b>laid</b> [1] - 2:23  <b>Lake</b> [11] - 3:8, 3:10, 3:11, 3:17, 5:14, 6:12, 6:19, 6:20, 7:6, 7:16, 7:18  <b>last</b> [5] - 1:24, 6:11, 18:9, 18:20, 48:4  <b>late</b> [3] - 1:10, 5:9, 12:2  <b>lawyer</b> [1] - 23:25  <b>lawyers</b> [1] - 16:13  <b>layout</b> [1] - 31:11  <b>lead</b> [1] - 3:3  <b>leading</b> [1] - 1:17  <b>least</b> [1] - 4:3  <b>leave</b> [1] - 1:16  <b>left</b> [3] - 2:3, 7:6, 30:19  <b>less</b> [2] - 11:20, 48:5  <b>letting</b> [2] - 9:11, 10:6  <b>liaise</b> [1] - 37:18  <b>life</b> [6] - 3:5, 4:3, 4:6, 6:17, 18:12, 23:5  <b>likely</b> [1] - 27:3  <b>list</b> [1] - 25:10  <b>listened</b> [1] - 10:12  <b>live</b> [1] - 4:12  <b>lived</b> [1] - 4:4  <b>living</b> [2] - 7:10, 8:4  <b>locate</b> [2] - 47:11, 47:12  <b>log</b> [1] - 19:7  <b>look</b> [7] - 9:8, 14:21, 17:12, 34:1, 34:15, 35:4, 47:18  <b>looked</b> [2] - 10:9, 20:7  <b>looking</b> [4] - 9:21, 19:20, 35:3, 46:12  <b>lost</b> [2] - 8:3, 41:22  <b>LTD</b> [1] - 49:11</p>	<p><b>marked</b> [1] - 2:17  <b>matter</b> [1] - 43:24  <b>mean</b> [10] - 18:10, 23:17, 25:5, 26:16, 26:20, 33:16, 36:13, 37:12, 40:5, 45:10  <b>means</b> [1] - 36:14  <b>meant</b> [1] - 31:10  <b>meet</b> [7] - 26:21, 26:23, 26:24, 27:1, 27:10, 31:6, 41:3  <b>meeting</b> [14] - 14:24, 15:4, 15:7, 15:9, 15:20, 15:21, 15:22, 15:23, 15:24, 16:1, 16:19, 20:5, 33:2, 42:6  <b>memory</b> [9] - 15:13, 15:22, 16:5, 16:8, 18:12, 20:25, 23:6, 29:10, 29:14  <b>mental</b> [1] - 12:13  <b>mentally</b> [1] - 12:9  <b>met</b> [4] - 20:5, 20:12, 30:3, 30:7  <b>might</b> [2] - 17:5, 32:12  <b>mind</b> [7] - 19:17, 20:8, 20:9, 21:2, 22:25, 23:1, 23:23  <b>ministry</b> [2] - 5:8, 7:15  <b>minutes</b> [7] - 8:21, 11:11, 11:12, 11:13, 11:18, 11:20, 48:5  <b>missing</b> [4] - 2:3, 7:8, 9:10, 38:6  <b>mistake</b> [1] - 2:9  <b>mistaken</b> [7] - 20:11, 20:18, 42:5, 42:10, 42:13, 42:18, 42:22  <b>model</b> [1] - 45:9  <b>molestation</b> [1] - 24:23  <b>mom</b> [1] - 5:8</p>	<p><b>name</b> [10] - 1:14, 1:15, 2:7, 5:13, 11:6, 16:22, 19:3, 19:23, 28:22, 38:5  <b>names</b> [1] - 1:7  <b>Narbonne</b> [2] - 11:11, 28:22  <b>NARBONNE</b> [2] - 28:21, 38:2  <b>Nation</b> [2] - 3:10, 5:14  <b>nature</b> [1] - 43:10  <b>necessarily</b> [1] - 43:20  <b>need</b> [5] - 12:15, 31:4, 32:21, 37:10, 40:20  <b>needed</b> [8] - 5:25, 24:8, 27:12, 28:18, 31:20, 31:21, 34:2, 37:4  <b>needs</b> [2] - 17:24, 30:23  <b>Neil</b> [2] - 1:5, 38:5  <b>never</b> [7] - 7:1, 7:2, 7:5, 38:21, 39:12, 39:19  <b>New</b> [1] - 12:23  <b>next</b> [3] - 1:6, 2:17, 11:1  <b>nine</b> [1] - 4:16  <b>NO</b> [1] - 1:3  <b>normal</b> [1] - 42:8</p>	<p><b>observation</b> [1] - 17:6  <b>observing</b> [1] - 8:11  <b>Obviously</b> [1] - 16:24  <b>occasion</b> [1] - 33:21  <b>occasions</b> [1] - 41:12  <b>occur</b> [2] - 24:24, 31:15  <b>occurs</b> [1] - 34:19  <b>OF</b> [1] - 2:1  <b>offer</b> [1] - 17:9  <b>offered</b> [1] - 45:19  <b>office</b> [7] - 12:23, 16:20, 25:18, 25:21, 27:15, 29:9, 43:18  <b>Often</b> [1] - 21:20  <b>old</b> [1] - 9:19  <b>Olivia</b> [22] - 1:20, 1:24, 2:2, 2:5, 2:14, 2:15, 2:20, 2:25, 4:20, 4:25, 5:11, 5:17, 5:19, 5:23, 6:11, 6:16, 7:7, 7:19, 7:25, 8:3, 10:18, 1:5  <b>Olivia's</b> [2] - 2:23, 3:5  <b>Once</b> [1] - 37:20  <b>once</b> [3] - 32:1, 40:18, 48:6  <b>One</b> [1] - 18:9  <b>one</b> [20] - 1:7, 2:2, 6:2, 6:22, 7:15, 9:21, 9:22, 11:3, 16:11, 16:12, 31:2, 31:20, 32:12, 33:6, 37:3, 37:11, 40:7, 40:14, 45:13</p>	<p><b>operative</b> [1] - 18:23  <b>Oppal</b> [1] - 10:6  <b>opportunity</b> [2] - 26:25, 27:10  <b>optimal</b> [1] - 43:12  <b>ordinary</b> [7] - 19:21, 21:2, 21:25, 23:11, 23:13, 23:16, 26:3  <b>orientation</b> [13] - 14:6, 14:9, 22:9, 31:8, 31:9, 31:10, 31:15, 32:6, 33:14, 33:16, 36:16, 36:18, 44:12  <b>orientations</b> [1] - 31:19  <b>orienting</b> [2] - 38:24, 39:21  <b>outside</b> [1] - 40:25  <b>overall</b> [1] - 40:9  <b>overwhelm</b> [1] - 40:15  <b>overwhelming</b> [1] - 40:16  <b>own</b> [6] - 6:10, 17:20, 24:7, 26:6, 30:14, 30:15  <b>owned</b> [1] - 30:16</p>
		N	O	
				P
				<p><b>P.M</b> [2] - 8:22, 48:15  <b>p.m</b> [1] - 48:14  <b>PAGE</b> [1] - 1:3  <b>pain</b> [1] - 9:13  <b>pamphlets</b> [5] - 25:22, 25:24, 26:3, 28:7, 28:10  <b>parents</b> [4] - 5:20, 6:1, 7:23, 9:22  <b>part</b> [10] - 16:14, 22:13, 24:3, 26:2, 27:15, 28:15, 35:5, 36:19, 40:3, 40:9  <b>participate</b> [1] - 8:12  <b>participating</b> [1] - 9:5  <b>participation</b> [2] - 10:1, 38:13  <b>particular</b> [1] - 43:20  <b>pass</b> [1] - 37:23  <b>passed</b> [4] - 4:23, 4:24, 9:24, 18:15  <b>past</b> [2] - 9:18, 39:24  <b>people</b> [13] - 5:24, 10:12, 11:21, 12:10, 12:15, 13:10, 17:1, 28:18, 30:2, 37:6, 37:9, 37:18, 38:20  <b>perceived</b> [1] - 24:7</p>

<p><b>perhaps</b> [2] - 40:7, 44:16</p> <p><b>Perhaps</b> [4] - 23:5, 23:24, 38:10, 41:18</p> <p><b>period</b> [2] - 40:8, 44:13</p> <p><b>person</b> [23] - 19:21, 20:7, 20:11, 20:14, 22:19, 23:18, 23:21, 27:4, 27:11, 27:24, 30:5, 30:21, 31:3, 31:6, 31:10, 32:6, 32:10, 38:16, 39:5, 41:24, 42:8, 45:18, 45:19</p> <p><b>personal</b> [3] - 17:5, 17:20, 18:11</p> <p><b>personnel</b> [2] - 38:20, 40:16</p> <p><b>persons</b> [2] - 2:3, 31:12</p> <p><b>perspectives</b> [1] - 19:4</p> <p><b>Philip</b> [1] - 1:15</p> <p><b>phone</b> [3] - 5:19, 40:24, 41:1</p> <p><b>phoned</b> [2] - 7:2</p> <p><b>phones</b> [1] - 35:18</p> <p><b>photo</b> [4] - 2:11, 2:12, 2:14, 2:15</p> <p><b>Photograph</b> [2] - 2:20, 1:5</p> <p><b>physical</b> [1] - 12:10</p> <p><b>physically</b> [2] - 12:8, 39:18</p> <p><b>Pickton</b> [3] - 3:1, 10:9, 16:22</p> <p><b>picture</b> [2] - 9:8, 29:3</p> <p><b>place</b> [5] - 5:13, 13:13, 20:1, 39:3, 40:23</p> <p><b>plane</b> [1] - 7:13</p> <p><b>point</b> [4] - 2:4, 12:15, 30:7, 47:6</p> <p><b>Police</b> [9] - 14:8, 41:15, 41:19, 43:25, 44:6, 44:24, 45:3, 46:18, 46:21</p> <p><b>police</b> [21] - 8:7, 13:19, 13:23, 14:10, 14:11, 14:12, 19:7, 31:1, 35:15, 35:21, 36:4, 41:9, 43:16, 44:15, 44:18, 46:11, 47:12, 47:15, 47:18, 47:21</p> <p><b>police-based</b> [2] - 44:18, 46:11</p> <p><b>Police-based</b> [1] - 14:8</p>	<p><b>Port</b> [3] - 13:16, 14:25, 25:18</p> <p><b>possibility</b> [1] - 25:1</p> <p><b>poster</b> [1] - 2:3</p> <p><b>potential</b> [3] - 14:13, 17:14, 17:24</p> <p><b>practice</b> [4] - 11:14, 26:3, 26:14, 28:15</p> <p><b>precisely</b> [1] - 39:9</p> <p><b>Predominantly</b> [1] - 21:18</p> <p><b>pregnant</b> [2] - 6:14, 6:21</p> <p><b>preliminary</b> [2] - 31:14, 40:18</p> <p><b>preparation</b> [2] - 46:5, 46:7</p> <p><b>prepared</b> [1] - 48:11</p> <p><b>preparing</b> [2] - 34:20, 37:10</p> <p><b>present</b> [1] - 32:21</p> <p><b>pretty</b> [2] - 5:24, 9:16</p> <p><b>primary</b> [2] - 37:9, 37:12</p> <p><b>proactive</b> [1] - 31:5</p> <p><b>problem</b> [4] - 27:23, 39:3, 39:4, 39:6</p> <p><b>problems</b> [3] - 7:19, 35:1, 39:8</p> <p><b>procedure</b> [1] - 39:2</p> <p><b>proceedings</b> [3] - 14:22, 17:12, 49:6</p> <p><b>PROCEEDINGS</b> [5] - 1:3, 8:22, 8:23, 48:15, 2:1</p> <p><b>Proceedings</b> [1] - 2:11</p> <p><b>process</b> [9] - 9:5, 10:1, 22:11, 27:18, 37:22, 38:13, 38:19, 39:1, 39:21</p> <p><b>Program</b> [1] - 13:9</p> <p><b>program</b> [3] - 13:18, 30:19, 39:11</p> <p><b>programs</b> [1] - 28:13</p> <p><b>progress</b> [1] - 48:4</p> <p><b>prosecutor</b> [1] - 29:20</p> <p><b>provide</b> [11] - 18:6, 22:6, 24:3, 25:10, 26:3, 28:8, 28:17, 33:19, 36:20, 45:7, 45:14</p> <p><b>provided</b> [2] - 36:9, 36:10</p> <p><b>providing</b> [5] - 27:20, 30:6, 36:16, 36:17, 36:18</p> <p><b>prying</b> [1] - 18:10</p> <p><b>purpose</b> [1] - 27:15</p>	<p><b>put</b> [2] - 5:4, 5:8</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>Q</b></p> <p><b>questions</b> [12] - 10:20, 10:23, 11:9, 18:25, 28:20, 38:2, 38:7, 43:2, 43:6, 43:9, 47:24, 48:4</p> <p><b>quite</b> [1] - 22:1</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>R</b></p> <p><b>Rainbow</b> [1] - 6:13</p> <p><b>raised</b> [1] - 5:10</p> <p><b>Randi</b> [4] - 15:1, 15:10, 29:19</p> <p><b>rape</b> [1] - 24:22</p> <p><b>rational</b> [1] - 23:19</p> <p><b>RCMP</b> [1] - 43:6</p> <p><b>reaching</b> [1] - 41:6</p> <p><b>realized</b> [1] - 20:10</p> <p><b>really</b> [4] - 10:12, 20:22, 28:25, 34:17</p> <p><b>reason</b> [1] - 9:12</p> <p><b>reasons</b> [2] - 16:11, 32:22</p> <p><b>received</b> [1] - 11:13</p> <p><b>recognize</b> [1] - 18:10</p> <p><b>recollection</b> [11] - 21:3, 21:25, 22:17, 29:5, 29:11, 38:9, 39:19, 42:1, 43:9, 44:25, 45:2</p> <p><b>RECONVENED</b> [1] - 1:3</p> <p><b>record</b> [1] - 2:7</p> <p><b>records</b> [1] - 1:23</p> <p><b>refer</b> [10] - 24:7, 24:9, 25:13, 26:14, 26:15, 26:16, 27:24, 36:1, 36:2, 39:10</p> <p><b>reference</b> [1] - 20:17</p> <p><b>referral</b> [13] - 24:12, 25:8, 30:25, 31:1, 35:15, 35:19, 39:7, 39:18, 39:23, 44:15, 44:24, 45:3, 46:1</p> <p><b>Referrals</b> [1] - 34:6</p> <p><b>referrals</b> [12] - 17:16, 18:2, 24:4, 24:14, 24:18, 27:4, 28:17, 35:8, 44:18, 45:14, 45:18, 45:21</p> <p><b>referred</b> [5] - 26:4, 42:6, 44:1, 45:19, 45:23</p> <p><b>referring</b> [3] - 25:2, 42:19, 45:7</p>	<p><b>refresh</b> [1] - 29:14</p> <p><b>refuse</b> [1] - 45:18</p> <p><b>regard</b> [1] - 30:9</p> <p><b>REGISTRAR</b> [7] - 1:4, 1:14, 2:19, 8:21, 8:24, 11:6, 48:14</p> <p><b>regular</b> [3] - 19:21, 20:7, 46:14</p> <p><b>rehabilitate</b> [1] - 34:22</p> <p><b>related</b> [2] - 7:21, 23:12</p> <p><b>relation</b> [1] - 8:7</p> <p><b>relationship</b> [5] - 3:22, 5:16, 40:2, 40:5, 40:6</p> <p><b>relatively</b> [1] - 18:24</p> <p><b>remember</b> [14] - 15:2, 15:6, 15:21, 18:4, 19:13, 19:20, 19:21, 19:22, 19:24, 20:24, 21:8, 26:9, 29:12, 36:21</p> <p><b>remind</b> [1] - 11:22</p> <p><b>removed</b> [4] - 3:25, 6:3, 6:7, 6:8</p> <p><b>repeat</b> [4] - 9:1, 32:11, 41:18, 45:11</p> <p><b>reporter</b> [1] - 11:2</p> <p><b>REPORTING</b> [1] - 49:11</p> <p><b>represent</b> [1] - 19:5</p> <p><b>request</b> [6] - 16:16, 18:24, 24:9, 47:17, 47:19</p> <p><b>required</b> [1] - 27:12</p> <p><b>requiring</b> [1] - 11:21</p> <p><b>Reserve</b> [1] - 3:10</p> <p><b>reserve</b> [2] - 5:12, 5:21</p> <p><b>reserves</b> [1] - 5:15</p> <p><b>residence</b> [1] - 40:24</p> <p><b>residential</b> [1] - 9:17</p> <p><b>residing</b> [1] - 7:18</p> <p><b>resource</b> [4] - 37:9, 37:12, 37:19, 39:7</p> <p><b>resources</b> [9] - 17:16, 24:4, 24:6, 25:16, 25:25, 27:24, 37:11, 41:23</p> <p><b>respect</b> [1] - 31:16</p> <p><b>response</b> [1] - 44:22</p> <p><b>RESUMED</b> [1] - 8:23</p> <p><b>resumed</b> [2] - 1:4, 8:24</p> <p><b>reverse</b> [1] - 33:8</p> <p><b>review</b> [4] - 46:3, 46:5, 46:6, 46:10</p> <p><b>reviewed</b> [1] - 29:15</p> <p><b>rez</b> [1] - 3:24</p>	<p><b>ring</b> [1] - 44:2</p> <p><b>role</b> [19] - 22:9, 29:2, 29:22, 31:12, 32:18, 33:23, 34:1, 34:17, 34:22, 35:5, 36:8, 38:17, 39:15, 39:20, 44:10, 44:12, 44:16, 44:19, 47:10</p> <p><b>room</b> [3] - 6:20, 15:24, 20:24</p> <p><b>rooming</b> [1] - 6:14</p> <p><b>Roxana</b> [4] - 11:1, 11:7, 2:5</p> <p><b>ROXANA</b> [2] - 11:3, 11:5</p> <p><b>running</b> [1] - 6:18</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>S</b></p> <p><b>safe</b> [1] - 25:12</p> <p><b>sat</b> [2] - 22:20, 29:8</p> <p><b>saw</b> [2] - 5:21, 24:7</p> <p><b>scared</b> [1] - 37:13</p> <p><b>school</b> [2] - 3:17, 9:18</p> <p><b>second</b> [1] - 6:22</p> <p><b>security</b> [1] - 17:20</p> <p><b>see</b> [8] - 2:10, 2:16, 6:11, 10:10, 14:12, 20:14, 37:2, 41:24</p> <p><b>seek</b> [2] - 41:9, 41:16</p> <p><b>sending</b> [1] - 7:12</p> <p><b>sense</b> [4] - 22:24, 23:18, 26:14, 40:8</p> <p><b>sentences</b> [1] - 22:25</p> <p><b>separated</b> [1] - 5:18</p> <p><b>separately</b> [2] - 26:25, 27:11</p> <p><b>serious</b> [3] - 12:11, 23:11, 27:6</p> <p><b>SERVICE</b> [1] - 49:11</p> <p><b>service</b> [6] - 13:17, 30:5, 33:19, 44:14, 44:19, 44:20</p> <p><b>Service</b> [8] - 14:5, 14:8, 41:15, 41:20, 44:7, 44:16, 45:4, 46:21</p> <p><b>services</b> [22] - 12:2, 12:21, 13:2, 13:22, 18:6, 19:7, 21:9, 23:8, 24:15, 24:21, 28:16, 30:15, 35:23, 36:4, 36:8, 36:10, 36:12, 36:20, 45:7, 45:8, 45:13, 46:11</p> <p><b>Services</b> [13] - 43:12, 43:25, 44:2, 44:6,</p>
---	---	--	---	--



<p>44:10, 44:13, 44:23, 44:25, 45:6, 46:12, 46:18, 47:4, 47:7  <b>set</b> [3] - 41:2, 43:14, 44:12  <b>sex</b> [3] - 8:1, 19:5, 20:14  <b>sexual</b> [7] - 7:22, 9:16, 21:16, 24:22, 24:23, 27:7  <b>sexually</b> [2] - 9:14, 23:12  <b>Shall</b> [1] - 8:17  <b>share</b> [2] - 8:13, 46:25  <b>shared</b> [1] - 46:24  <b>shelters</b> [2] - 25:15, 28:3  <b>short</b> [1] - 18:24  <b>shortly</b> [1] - 18:15  <b>shows</b> [1] - 46:10  <b>sic</b> [1] - 5:12  <b>simplest</b> [1] - 14:1  <b>simply</b> [2] - 32:9, 35:2  <b>single</b> [1] - 36:21  <b>sister</b> [6] - 2:6, 2:15, 7:5, 9:9, 9:23, 10:7  <b>sisters</b> [3] - 4:20, 7:21, 9:15  <b>sit</b> [6] - 14:22, 18:16, 32:15, 33:3, 33:10, 33:15  <b>sitting</b> [4] - 1:22, 19:13, 21:13, 32:18  <b>situation</b> [1] - 10:9  <b>situations</b> [3] - 24:16, 31:20, 44:9  <b>six</b> [1] - 1:7  <b>skill</b> [1] - 49:7  <b>Smith</b> [12] - 11:1, 11:3, 11:7, 11:8, 11:25, 16:11, 22:18, 24:1, 28:22, 38:5, 43:7, 2:5  <b>SMITH</b> [1] - 11:5  <b>Smithers</b> [5] - 4:4, 4:5, 5:12, 6:18, 7:17  <b>sober</b> [1] - 4:16  <b>someone</b> [15] - 14:20, 17:4, 17:19, 20:13, 20:16, 27:1, 30:23, 31:23, 32:21, 34:18, 37:13, 37:25, 41:6, 42:9, 45:23  <b>sometimes</b> [4] - 32:7, 32:20, 41:16, 44:23  <b>sorry</b> [1] - 37:12  <b>Sorry</b> [2] - 32:11,</p>	<p>33:14  <b>sort</b> [2] - 6:23, 21:6  <b>sound</b> [1] - 23:25  <b>sounds</b> [2] - 23:8, 29:6  <b>span</b> [1] - 23:8  <b>speaking</b> [1] - 38:11  <b>special</b> [2] - 17:24, 18:6  <b>specific</b> [5] - 24:21, 29:5, 30:2, 38:9, 42:1  <b>specifically</b> [1] - 26:21  <b>Specifically</b> [1] - 26:23  <b>spelled</b> [1] - 11:3  <b>spent</b> [1] - 3:14  <b>spiral</b> [1] - 6:23  <b>spread</b> [1] - 5:15  <b>stage</b> [1] - 43:16  <b>stages</b> [1] - 40:19  <b>stand</b> [2] - 19:17, 48:7  <b>standard</b> [2] - 26:2, 28:15  <b>start</b> [1] - 28:24  <b>started</b> [3] - 7:3, 16:3, 21:10  <b>state</b> [2] - 1:14, 11:6  <b>statement</b> [1] - 20:19  <b>stationed</b> [1] - 14:18  <b>stay</b> [1] - 5:17  <b>staying</b> [2] - 6:13, 6:20  <b>sticks</b> [1] - 21:2  <b>still</b> [3] - 5:14, 7:17, 43:16  <b>story</b> [1] - 42:24  <b>strategy</b> [3] - 40:3, 40:9, 40:11  <b>street</b> [1] - 42:9  <b>streets</b> [1] - 20:6  <b>stress</b> [1] - 34:20  <b>strictly</b> [1] - 40:22  <b>struck</b> [1] - 19:20  <b>stuck</b> [5] - 20:8, 20:9, 20:22, 23:1, 23:23  <b>stupid</b> [1] - 29:6  <b>substance</b> [6] - 38:23, 39:3, 39:5, 39:11, 39:15, 39:19  <b>successfully</b> [2] - 38:24, 38:25  <b>suggesting</b> [2] - 22:18, 27:22  <b>suggests</b> [1] - 34:25  <b>support</b> [12] - 17:9, 17:15, 17:17, 22:5, 22:6, 27:13, 27:20,</p>	<p>32:21, 32:23, 36:17, 37:4, 45:20  <b>supporting</b> [1] - 17:11  <b>supposed</b> [2] - 33:13, 34:5  <b>surprised</b> [1] - 42:7  <b>Surrey</b> [1] - 4:12  <b>survival</b> [1] - 20:14  <b>Suzette</b> [1] - 28:22  <b>system</b> [1] - 40:13</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>T</b></p> <p><b>targeted</b> [2] - 24:15, 24:21  <b>tears</b> [1] - 23:18  <b>ten</b> [1] - 9:19  <b>ten-year-old</b> [1] - 9:19  <b>terms</b> [3] - 17:9, 38:15, 38:19  <b>testified</b> [4] - 41:14, 42:4, 45:13, 47:10  <b>testify</b> [4] - 21:23, 22:12, 37:7, 38:17  <b>testifying</b> [4] - 14:7, 34:20, 37:13, 38:19  <b>testimony</b> [3] - 38:8, 46:6, 46:8  <b>THE</b> [23] - 1:4, 1:12, 1:14, 1:15, 1:18, 2:18, 2:19, 8:17, 8:21, 8:24, 10:13, 10:22, 10:23, 11:6, 11:7, 11:19, 19:1, 38:3, 43:3, 47:25, 48:9, 48:12, 48:14  <b>therapy</b> [4] - 25:3, 25:6, 26:15, 28:4  <b>thinking</b> [2] - 20:20, 42:23  <b>three</b> [2] - 11:9, 31:19  <b>today</b> [12] - 1:22, 10:11, 16:24, 23:25, 29:6, 29:12, 30:12, 30:13, 38:7, 38:8, 46:6, 46:8  <b>Today</b> [1] - 4:12  <b>together</b> [1] - 41:19  <b>took</b> [10] - 4:6, 5:9, 5:11, 5:20, 7:15, 9:23, 13:13, 16:1, 20:1  <b>touch</b> [3] - 5:17, 8:3, 44:6  <b>trade</b> [1] - 8:1  <b>transcribed</b> [1] - 49:6</p>	<p><b>transcript</b> [1] - 49:5  <b>transpired</b> [1] - 21:1  <b>traumatic</b> [1] - 37:6  <b>traumatized</b> [1] - 9:20  <b>treatment</b> [1] - 4:7  <b>trial</b> [7] - 31:14, 31:16, 33:11, 37:16, 40:18, 42:16, 43:14  <b>true</b> [2] - 35:2, 49:5  <b>trust</b> [1] - 40:9  <b>try</b> [1] - 33:23  <b>trying</b> [1] - 35:11  <b>turn</b> [1] - 4:6  <b>turned</b> [2] - 4:7, 6:9  <b>two</b> [3] - 4:20, 14:4, 31:19  <b>type</b> [2] - 4:14, 25:7  <b>types</b> [3] - 25:13, 25:25, 38:11  <b>typical</b> [3] - 32:7, 32:12, 32:16  <b>Typically</b> [1] - 31:15</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>U</b></p> <p><b>ultimately</b> [2] - 12:1, 13:2  <b>Unfortunately</b> [1] - 19:22  <b>unfortunately</b> [1] - 48:11  <b>unit</b> [2] - 41:15, 41:20  <b>UNITED</b> [1] - 49:11  <b>unusual</b> [5] - 21:6, 23:2, 23:16, 33:10, 33:12  <b>up</b> [8] - 2:11, 2:16, 3:10, 6:1, 6:22, 7:10, 41:2, 44:12  <b>updated</b> [1] - 41:25  <b>upset</b> [1] - 27:2  <b>users</b> [2] - 17:2, 19:6  <b>usual</b> [1] - 11:3</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>V</b></p> <p><b>Vancouver</b> [4] - 1:1, 7:14, 8:4, 10:9  <b>vanish</b> [1] - 9:10  <b>various</b> [1] - 25:13  <b>Vernon</b> [1] - 4:8  <b>Vertlieb</b> [2] - 24:3, 2:6  <b>VERTLIEB</b> [6] - 11:1, 11:8, 11:21, 11:24, 18:22, 48:1</p>	<p><b>Victim</b> [22] - 13:8, 14:5, 14:8, 41:15, 41:19, 43:12, 43:25, 44:2, 44:5, 44:6, 44:10, 44:13, 44:16, 44:23, 44:24, 45:3, 45:6, 46:11, 46:18, 46:21, 47:4, 47:7  <b>victim</b> [32] - 12:2, 12:21, 13:2, 13:17, 13:22, 19:8, 21:8, 23:7, 23:17, 28:16, 30:14, 31:4, 31:25, 35:18, 35:20, 36:3, 38:12, 39:15, 39:25, 40:2, 40:22, 41:10, 41:17, 41:21, 42:22, 42:23, 43:21, 44:14, 44:19, 46:11, 46:19, 47:13  <b>Victims</b> [1] - 21:16  <b>victims</b> [14] - 13:11, 17:10, 21:14, 22:5, 23:11, 24:18, 24:22, 25:2, 27:20, 35:23, 40:10, 40:11, 45:15, 47:11  <b>violation</b> [1] - 27:7  <b>violations</b> [1] - 24:24  <b>violence</b> [3] - 24:19, 24:22, 27:7  <b>visit</b> [3] - 6:25, 40:25, 41:1  <b>volition</b> [1] - 24:7  <b>volunteer</b> [2] - 12:22, 12:24</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>W</b></p> <p><b>wait</b> [2] - 24:11, 48:12  <b>Wally</b> [1] - 10:6  <b>ward</b> [3] - 3:13, 6:8  <b>Ward</b> [1] - 16:12  <b>week</b> [5] - 1:8, 12:25, 33:11, 37:16, 37:25  <b>west</b> [1] - 5:12  <b>west-east</b> [1] - 5:12  <b>Westminster</b> [1] - 12:23  <b>Whereas</b> [1] - 14:15  <b>William</b> [1] - 2:5  <b>Williams</b> [5] - 1:20, 2:8, 2:20, 5:10, 1:5  <b>Wills</b> [1] - 49:10  <b>Winnie</b> [1] - 4:21  <b>wish</b> [1] - 11:10  <b>Witness</b> [1] - 13:8  <b>witness</b> [31] - 1:6,</p>
---	--	---	---	---

11:1, 17:24, 22:10,  
22:19, 22:23, 27:23,  
32:4, 32:13, 32:20,  
32:24, 33:18, 33:24,  
35:2, 35:3, 35:6,  
36:15, 36:22, 36:24,  
37:21, 37:23, 37:24,  
39:14, 41:22, 43:13,  
43:21, 44:7, 45:8,  
46:19, 47:11, 47:13  
**WITNESS** [4] - 1:15,  
10:22, 10:25, 11:7  
**witness's** [1] - 1:17  
**witnesses** [6] -  
14:13, 17:14, 17:17,  
35:4, 37:2, 45:15  
**women** [4] - 2:3,  
21:18, 24:16, 38:6  
**womens'** [2] - 25:15,  
28:2  
**Woodlands** [3] -  
12:4, 12:5, 12:7  
**worker** [9] - 12:2,  
12:21, 13:3, 13:17,  
18:1, 20:15, 21:9,  
23:8, 28:16  
**workers** [4] - 13:23,  
17:14, 19:6, 31:7  
**works** [1] - 36:4  
**worried** [1] - 7:3

**Y**

**year** [6] - 9:19, 13:3,  
15:12, 15:13, 15:14,  
15:15  
**years** [10] - 4:4, 4:5,  
5:2, 9:13, 12:4, 12:5,  
18:11, 21:11, 23:9,  
31:16  
**young** [3] - 3:13, 5:4,  
5:23  
**younger** [2] - 4:20,  
5:2  
**youngest** [1] - 2:6  
**yourself** [1] - 10:18